

# Asymptotics for 2D whispering gallery modes in optical micro-disks with radially varying index

Stéphane Balac, Monique Dauge, Zoïs Moitier

# ► To cite this version:

Stéphane Balac, Monique Dauge, Zoïs Moitier. Asymptotics for 2D whispering gallery modes in optical micro-disks with radially varying index. IMA Journal of Applied Mathematics, 2021, 86 (6), pp.1212-1265. 10.1093/imamat/hxab033. hal-02528150v2

# HAL Id: hal-02528150 https://hal.science/hal-02528150v2

Submitted on 10 Jun 2021

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# ASYMPTOTICS FOR 2D WHISPERING GALLERY MODES IN OPTICAL MICRO-DISKS WITH RADIALLY VARYING INDEX

#### STÉPHANE BALAC, MONIQUE DAUGE, AND ZOÏS MOITIER

ABSTRACT. Whispering gallery modes [WGM] are resonant modes displaying special features: They concentrate along the boundary of the optical cavity at high polar frequencies and they are associated with complex scattering resonances very close to the real axis. As a classical simplification of the full Maxwell system, we consider two-dimensional Helmholtz equations governing transverse electric [TE] or magnetic [TM] modes. Even in this 2D framework, very few results provide asymptotic expansion of WGM resonances at high polar frequency  $m \to \infty$  for cavities with radially varying optical index.

In this work, using a direct Schrödinger analogy we highlight three typical behaviors in such optical micro-disks, depending on the sign of an *effective curvature* that takes into account the radius of the disk and the values of the optical index and its derivative. Accordingly, this corresponds to abruptly varying effective potentials (step linear or step harmonic) or more classical harmonic potentials, leading to three distinct asymptotic expansions for ground state energies. Using multiscale expansions, we design a unified procedure to construct families of quasi-resonances and associate quasi-modes that have the WGM structure and satisfy eigenequations modulo a super-algebraically small residual  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$ . We show using the black box scattering approach that quasi-resonances are  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$  close to true resonances.

#### **CONTENTS**

Introduction	1
1. Problem setting and main results	7
2. Families of resonance quasi-pairs	13
3. Classification of the three typical behaviors by a Schrödinger analogy	14
4. Case (A) Half-triangular potential well	16
5. Case (B) Half-quadratic potential well	28
6. Case (C) Quadratic potential well	33
7. Proximity between quasi-resonances and true resonances	35
Appendix A. Technical lemmas	39
References	42

# INTRODUCTION

**Motivation.** Our work is motivated by the study of light-wave propagation in optical microresonators and has its origin in a long-run collaboration with a physics laboratory specialized in optics [4]. These optical devices, with micrometric size, came to be important components in the photonic toolbox. They are basically composed of a dielectric cavity coupled to waveguides or fibers for light input and output [16].

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. 35P25, 34E05, 78A45.

*Key words and phrases.* Whispering gallery modes, Optical micro-disks, Scattering resonances, Asymptotic expansions, Axisymmetry, Schrödinger analogy, Quasi-modes.

The authors acknowledge support of the Centre Henri Lebesgue ANR-11-LABX-0020-01.

The knowledge of the *scattering resonances* of the dielectric cavity alone, considered as an open system, is a corner stone to find adequate conditions for the confinement of lightwaves in the cavity when the full resonator is operated. This allows to access a wide range of optical phenomena. In order to dissipate possible misunderstanding due to various uses of the same words in different scientific groups, let us clarify the following terms and notations:

- (1) A scattering resonance k (or simply resonance for short) of the cavity is an exact eigen-frequency of the open system formed by the cavity alone with outgoing radiation condition. With the  $e^{-ikt}$  convention for time harmonic fields, this implies that k has a negative imaginary part: Im k < 0, cf. [30]. Corresponding eigenvectors u are called modes.
- (2) A quasi-resonance  $\underline{k}$  in association with a quasi-mode  $\underline{u}$ , is an approximate eigen-pair of the same system, with a small residue. The term *quasi-mode* with this meaning is widely used in literature, *cf.* [34, 38] in our context. The pair ( $\underline{k}, \underline{u}$ ) will be called a quasi-pair.

The study of scattering resonances is the subject of this paper. More specifically, we focus on "Whispering Gallery Modes" for which modes are essentially localized inside the cavity and concentrated in a (boundary) layer. Such modes u are associated with resonances k close to the real axis (| Im k | is small).

This work is motivated by the following observation found in the literature in optics: Whispering Gallery Mode (WGM) resonators are in most cases formed of dielectric materials with constant optical index n but this constitutes a potential limit in their performance and in the range of their applications. Resonators with spatially varying optical index, that fall under the category of "graded index" structures [14], offer new opportunities to improve and enlarge the field of applications of these devices and start to be investigated in optics.

Among properties that can be sensitive to a modification of the optical index n, let us mention

- a) The Q factor. This factor is the radiation quality factor of a mode, defined as the quotient Re k | Im k|<sup>-1</sup> of the real and imaginary parts of the corresponding resonance k. This factor accounts for radiative losses. Larger Q factors correspond to longer life times.
- b) The localization of modes. One is looking for modes that are concentrated inside the cavity, close to its boundary, with sufficient radiation outside to transmit light in another part of the device.
- c) The lattice structure of resonances (repartition of modes). In the WGM regime, modes can be classified by integer indices (e.g. the polar mode index m and the radial mode index j in two dimensions, characterizing the resonance  $k_{m,j}$ ). A regular lattice structure will be obtained if differences between adjacent mode resonances  $k_{m+1,j} k_{m,j}$  and  $k_{m,j+1} k_{m,j}$  are almost constant in some regions. Such a lattice structure of resonances is sought, for instance, in the design of frequency comb generators.

The examples of graded index structures that we found in the literature in optics all relate to *radially symmetric cavities*: In 3 dimensions of space, cylinders and spheres are concerned, whereas in 2 dimensions one considers disks, for which the 2-dimensional model can be obtained as an approximation of the 3-dimensional one by using an approach referred as the effective index method [33].

A first theoretical example is provided by [21] in which the radial profile of the optical index depends on a parameter  $\delta$ 

$$n(r) = n_0 \sqrt{1 + \delta R \left(1 - \frac{r}{R}\right)} \quad \text{with} \quad n_0 > 1 \text{ and } \delta \ge 0.$$
 (0.1)

Here R denote the cavity radius and it is understood that n(r) is 1 outside the cavity. As shown in [21], depending on the values of the parameter  $\delta$ , the dispersion of modes changes, becoming more regular when  $\delta$  tends to  $\frac{2}{R}$  from below.

Among other examples of graded index structures we can quote a modified form of the "Maxwell's fish eye", that can be implemented using dielectric material, where the optical index varies with the radial position r in the micro-disk resonator as [8, 26]

$$n(r) = \alpha \left(1 + \frac{r^2}{R^2}\right)^{-1}$$

where  $\alpha > 2$  and R is the disk radius. Another relevant work is [37] where is considered a micro-cavity made of a quadratic-index glass doped with dye molecules and the refractive index is written as  $n(r) = \alpha - \frac{1}{2}\beta r^2$ , where  $\alpha, \beta > 0$ . In [40], an analysis of hollow cylindrical whispering gallery mode resonator is carried out where the refractive index of the cladding varies according to  $n(r) = \beta/r$ ,  $\beta > R$ .

**Investigation framework.** Motivated by the above mentioned examples, we found interesting to investigate in this paper the case of micro-disk cavities with radially varying optical index. The case of micro-spheres can be partly deduced from the investigation of micro-disks, see [4, Appendix C].

In this configuration of micro-disks, Maxwell equations reduce to two scalar Helmholtz equations, corresponding to *Transverse Magnetic* (TM) or *Transverse Electric* (TE) modes, for which eigen-equations are

$$\Delta u + k^2 n^2 u = 0$$
 [TM] or  $\operatorname{div} (n^{-2} \nabla u) + k^2 u = 0$  [TE] (0.2)

These Helmholtz equations are posed in the whole plane and completed by a suitable outgoing radiation condition at infinity. The resonances k have a negative imaginary part.

In this preliminary discussion, let us concentrate on the TM formulation. By separation of variables using polar coordinates, the Helmholtz equation becomes a family of scalar equations indexed by the (integer) polar mode index m

$$u'' + \frac{1}{r}u' - \frac{m^2}{r^2}u + k^2n^2u = 0.$$
 (0.3)

Here appears the optical potential, sum of the centrifugal part  $\frac{m^2}{r^2}$  and an attractive part driven by  $n^2$ . Setting

$$h = \frac{1}{m}, \quad W(r) = \frac{1}{r^2 n^2(r)}, \quad \text{and} \quad E = \frac{k^2}{m^2}$$
 (0.4)

the analogy with the (time-independent) Schrödinger equation becomes clear, yielding the equation

$$-h^{2}\frac{1}{n^{2}}\left(u''+\frac{1}{r}u'\right)+Wu=Eu.$$
(0.5)

The behavior of the *effective potential* W near its minimum is the key for the structure of WGM resonances when m tends to infinity. As an illustrative example, let us observe the optical index n and the potential W in example (0.1) for the values 0,  $\frac{2}{R}$ , and  $\frac{4}{R}$  of parameter  $\delta$ , see Fig. 1.



FIGURE 1. Optical index n and potential W in example (0.1) with R = 1,  $n_0 = 1.5$  (W in units  $R^{-2}n_0^{-2}$ ).

Cases (A), (B), and (C), display well bottoms with distinct shapes, driven by the values of the potential W and its derivatives. The formula

$$W'(r) = -\frac{2}{r^2 n^2(r)} \left(\frac{1}{r} + \frac{n'(r)}{n(r)}\right), \quad 0 < r \le R,$$

leads to the introduction of the *effective curvature*  $\kappa_{eff}$ 

$$\kappa_{\text{eff}} = \frac{1}{R} + \frac{n'(R)}{n(R)} \tag{0.6}$$

the sign of which discriminates these three situations. Note that in example (0.1) we simply have

$$\kappa_{\rm eff} = \frac{1}{R} - \frac{\delta}{2} \,. \tag{0.7}$$

This leads to the classification of the three cases that we investigate in detail in this paper:

- (A)  $\kappa_{\text{eff}} > 0$ : The potential W has a well bottom with half-triangular (aka step-linear) shape at r = R.
- (B)  $\kappa_{\text{eff}} = 0$ : The potential W has a well bottom with half-quadratic (aka step-harmonic) shape at r = R.
- (C)  $\kappa_{\text{eff}} < 0$ : There exist  $R_0 < R$  at which the potential W has a well bottom with quadratic shape at r = R.

Going from (A) to (C) we observe that WGM spread more and more inside the cavity, and that the corresponding resonances have smaller and smaller imaginary parts, see Fig. 2.

In this paper we provide asymptotic expansions for WGM resonances as the polar mode index m tends to infinity. This means two things:

- (1) Construct sequences of quasi-resonances and quasi-modes  $m \mapsto (\underline{k}(m), \underline{u}(m))$  that satisfy approximately equation (0.3) or its TE counterpart with super-algebraically small residues in  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$ .
- (2) Apply the theory of black box scattering [38, 34] to deduce the presence of true resonances k(m) super-algebraically close to quasi-resonances  $\underline{k}(m)$ .

This will be done in a general framework of variable optical indices entering in either case (A), (B) or (C), see Theorems 1.A-1.C later on. The construction in case (A) and case (C) leads to a computable algorithm, i.e. involving at each level matrix products and matrix inversions in finite dimension.



FIGURE 2. Real part of radial profiles of first WGM in example (0.1) with R = 1,  $n_0 = 1.5$ , and m = 30. Computed by solving (0.2) by finite differences with Perfectly Matched Layers.

**Connection with literature.** Our results in case (A) are reminiscent of those by BABIČ and BULDYREV [3, Sec. 7.4], where the Helmholtz equation  $\Delta u + \frac{k^2}{c^2}u = 0$  is considered in a closed cavity with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Asymptotic expansions of eigenfrequencies corresponding to whispering gallery mode are determined there. The same condition on the effective curvature appears in [3, eq. (7.2.1)]. As a matter of fact, both problems are close: Asymptotics of [3] and ours start with the same two terms and differ by the third one. Nevertheless there are also striking differences: In contrast with [3], we have to couple the interior and the exterior of the cavity and need distinct scales for that. Moreover, the scattering resonances appear as eigen-frequencies of a *non selfadjoint problem*, which prevents from using the spectral theorem as in [3, Thm. 7.1].

Let us also mention that our results in case (A) generalize to *variable optical indices* the expansion obtained by LAM et al. [22] for constant indices by a quite specific method (expansion of Bessel functions entering in the so called modal equation (1.6) see later on).

Our case (C) appears to essentially enter the framework of the "puits ponctuel dans une isle" of HELFFER and SJÖSTRAND [18, Chap. 10]. Namely, asymptotic expansions of resonances and modes are given there in Theorem 10.7 and Theorem 10.8, respectively. These very sharp results are proved for analytic potentials and make use of semi-classical analytic pseudo-differential calculus. Stricto sensu, our effective potentials do not satisfy the assumptions of [18, Chap. 10]. Our (one-dimensional) multi-scale expansions are more explicit and use simpler tools, which is our motivation to include them in our analysis.

**Real vs imaginary parts.** In the three cases (A), (B), (C), the quasi-resonances  $\underline{k}(m)$  that we construct are real. The associated quasi-modes  $\underline{u}(m)$  are localized in the radial variable (close to the interface r = R in the first two cases and close to the internal circle  $r = R_0$  in the third one). The couples  $(\underline{k}(m), \underline{u}(m))$  are in fact quasi-pairs for a transmission problem in a larger bounded domain containing the disk of radius R. This latter problem can be viewed as self-adjoint. This explains why the quasi-resonances  $\underline{k}(m)$  are real. This also explains why our analysis does not access the imaginary part of resonances apart from the rough information that  $|\operatorname{Im} k(m)| = \mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$  for resonances k(m) that are close to quasi-resonances  $\underline{k}(m)$ .

The issue of imaginary parts calls for a couple of comments. Information about the imaginary parts of resonances needs a WKB approximation based on solution of eikonal and transport equations. The imaginary part comes from the tunneling effect in the classically forbidden region where W > E. In the semi-classical analytic framework of [18, Chap. 10], an expression is proven (Theorem 10.12), displaying the exponentially decreasing behavior of  $|\operatorname{Im} k|$  as h tends to 0 (i.e. m tends to  $\infty$  for us). The WKB approximation can be conducted in a more or less formal way to obtain the first terms of such an expansion, see [15, Chap. 15] for confining potentials and [12] for radial barriers. The investigation of discontinuous potentials of the same kind as ours in [2] shows that the matter is far from being obvious. Calculations done in the same spirit as [15, 12, 2] in cases (A) and (B) lead to the plausible estimate  $|\operatorname{Im} k(m)| = \mathcal{O}(e^{-2S_0m})$  at the ground state energy  $E = \frac{1}{R^2 n(R)^2}$  with  $S_0$ the integral of the kinetic parameter  $\sqrt{W(r) - E}$  between the point of discontinuity r = Rand the turning point r = Rn(R). We compute:

$$S_0 = \int_R^{Rn(R)} \sqrt{W(r) - E} \, \mathrm{d}r = \operatorname{artanh}(T) - T \quad \text{with} \quad T = \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{n(R)^2}}.$$
 (0.8)

Even if correct, these formulas have to be taken with care. One can notice that the term  $\mathcal{O}$  hides a power of m and the dependency of resonances on the radius R. When the potential is analytic, the  $\mathcal{O}$  is encoded precisely in an analytic symbol. But in our case, we could simply learn that we have an exponential decay of the imaginary part.

We have lead numerical computations combining perfectly matched layers (PML), finite differences and extrapolation, that provided an evaluation of the imaginary part, up to  $10^{-10}$  relative precision at least. The exponential decay of  $|\operatorname{Im} k(m)|$  as  $m \to \infty$  is clearly identifiable, but the decay rate does not converge rapidly in m.

By contrast, the expansions of the real parts involves integer powers of  $m^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  in case (A) and of  $m^{-\frac{1}{2}}$  in cases (B)-(C). Their coefficients depend explicitly on TE/TM type and on another index *j* that is, roughly the number of oscillations of modes inside the cavity. We provide explicit formulas for the first 5 terms of expansions in case (A) (and 3 in cases (B)-(C)). This displays the influence of the first derivatives of the optical index on these various terms. According to what was first guessed in [21], one can also observe the regular asymptotic repartition of resonances in cases (B)-(C).

Intertwining of asymptotics, simulations, and physics. The values of the polar frequency m that are interesting in practice for micro-resonators correspond to micrometric wave length on the boundary of the cavity. According to the size of the cavity (with R ranging from ca.  $10\mu$ m to a few hundreds  $\mu$ m) this corresponds to values of m that go from ca. 50 to 1000. This means that we are either in a middle or in a high frequency regime. In any case, asymptotic formulas give insight into the repartition of WGM resonances and the localization of modes. So, prior to any experimentation, one can forecast what can be expected if a certain variable index is used.

In the middle/high frequency regime, asymptotic formulas provide a priori repartition of WGM resonances with at most 1% relative error. This information can be combined with great advantage to numerical simulations including PML's. Since the computed spectrum spreads in the complex plane and contains non physical parts due to the PML angle and the cut-off, an a priori localization is of utmost importance to dig out the correct eigenfrequencies of discretized matrices. In this range of frequencies, as already mentioned, it is possible to obtain an evaluation of the radiation Q-factor, up to  $10^{10}$  at least.

In very high frequency regime, numerical computations loose precision due to high stiffness and, by contrast, asymptotics become very precise with at most ca.  $10^{-6}$  relative error. The imaginary part of resonance tends exponentially rapidly to 0 with larger m, becoming undetectable in double precision arithmetics. This means that at such frequencies, Im k is not calculable. Nevertheless, it is important to note that, in this situation, the radiation Q factor

becomes irrevelant from a physical point of view because the radiation losses are much lower than other loss sources (such as edge roughness, material absorption or material defects) that contribute the more, *cf.* [6].

To conclude, we can say that asymptotics and numerical computations help each other to gain a very precise insight into WGM. The building of a finite difference code with perfectly matched layers (PML) is the object of a work in progress by the authors. Let us finally mention that the third author [25] handles two-dimensional non-axisymmetric cavities, theoretically by a semi-WKB method, and numerically by finite element method via the library XLiFE++.

**Organization of the paper.** Section 1 presents the mathematical setting of the problem and the main results. We also revisit there the case of constant optical index to illustrate what are the WGM resonances in the general landscape of complex resonances. In section 2, we make precise the notion of quasi-pairs, quasi-resonances, and quasi-modes. In section 3, we come back to the Schrödinger analogy and the classification (A)(B)(C) of our cases of study. In sections 4–6, we construct quasi-pairs associated with localized resonances in these three cases. Finally, in section 7, we show that the quasi-resonances just constructed are asymptotically close to true resonances of the cavity, hence ending the proof of Theorems 1.A–1.C.

**Notation.** The set of non-negative integers is denoted by  $\mathbb{N}$  and the set of positive integer by  $\mathbb{N}^*$ . We denote by  $L^2(\Omega)$  the space of square-integrable functions on the open set  $\Omega$ , and by  $H^{\ell}(\Omega)$  the Sobolev space of functions in  $L^2(\Omega)$  such that their derivatives up to order  $\ell$ belong to  $L^2(\Omega)$ . Finally,  $\mathscr{S}(I)$  denotes the space of Schwartz functions on the unbounded interval I.

#### 1. PROBLEM SETTING AND MAIN RESULTS

1.1. Helmholtz equations for optical micro-disks. In the 2-dimensional model that we investigate from now on, the optical cavity is a disk of radius R centered at the origin, that we denote by  $\Omega$ . This cavity is associated with an optical index n > 1 which is a regular radial function of the position on the closed interval [0, R]. Outside  $\overline{\Omega}$ , i.e. for r > R, the index n is equal to 1. There are two relevant scalar Helmholtz equations associated with such a configuration, corresponding to *Transverse Electric* (TE) modes or *Transverse Magnetic* (TM) modes. In order to have a common formulation, we introduce a parameter  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$  defined as

$$p = 1$$
 in TM case and  $p = -1$  in TE case. (1.1)

With this convention, the resonance problems are:

Find  $k \in \mathbb{C}$  and nonzero u with  $u|_{\Omega} \in \mathrm{H}^{2}(\Omega)$  and  $u|_{\mathbb{R}^{2}\setminus\Omega} \in \mathrm{H}^{2}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^{2}\setminus\Omega)$  such that

$$-\operatorname{div}\left(n^{p-1}\nabla u\right) - k^2 n^{p+1} u = 0, \qquad \text{in } \Omega \text{ and } \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \overline{\Omega} \qquad (1.2a)$$

$$[u] = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad [n^{p-1}\partial_{\nu}u] = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{across } \partial\Omega \qquad (1.2b)$$
Outgoing radiation condition  $as \ r \to +\infty \qquad (1.2c)$ 

$$\qquad \qquad \text{Outgoing radiation condition} \qquad \qquad \text{as} \ r \to +\infty \qquad (1.2c)$$

Here [f] denotes the jump of f across  $\partial\Omega$ . The outgoing radiation condition (1.2c) is distinct from the usual Sommerfeld condition that is valid for real k's. It can be referred as the Siegert condition in the literature. In our framework, (1.2c) imposes that outside  $\overline{\Omega}$ , u has an expansion in terms of Hankel functions of the first kind  $H_m^{(1)}$  in polar coordinates (compare with [36] for instance):

$$u(x,y) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} C_m e^{im\theta} \mathsf{H}_m^{(1)}(kr) \qquad \qquad \forall \theta \in [0,2\pi], \ r > R_\Omega.$$
(1.3)

Owing to Rellich theorem (see [23] for instance) the radiation condition (1.2c) implies that the imaginary part of k is negative and the modes, exponentially increasing at infinity. Such wave-numbers k are the poles of the extension of the resolvent of underlying Helmholtz operators when coming from the upper half complex plane.

We note that, in the case when n is constant inside  $\Omega$ , problem (1.2) appears also as a modeling of scattering by a transparent obstacle (see MOIOLA and SPENCE [24, Remark 2.1] for a discussion of the models in acoustics and electromagnetics). In contrast with impenetrable obstacles (see SJÖSTRAND and ZWORSKI [32]), transparent obstacles or dielectric cavities may have resonances super-algebraically close to the real axis due to almost total internal reflection on a convex boundary (see POPOV and VODEV [30], and also GALKOWSKI [13]). These resonances correspond to the whispering gallery modes we are interested in.

In polar coordinates  $(r, \theta)$  centered at the disk center, n = n(r). Taking advantage of the invariance by rotation of equations (1.2), it is easily proved by separation of variables that any solution u associated with a  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$  and a resonance  $k \in \mathbb{C}$  can be expanded as a Fourier sum

$$u(x,y) = \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} w_m(r) e^{im\theta}$$

and that each term  $u_m(x, y) \coloneqq w_m(r) e^{im\theta}$  is a solution of problem (1.2) associated with the same p and the same k. Hence it is sufficient to solve, for any  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ , problem (1.2) with u of the form  $w_m(r) e^{im\theta}$ . Here  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  is referred as the *polar mode index*. The radial problem satisfied by  $w : r \mapsto w(r)$  when  $u = w(r) e^{im\theta}$  is plugged into problem (1.2) is the following parametric radial problem depending on the integer m:

Find 
$$k \in \mathbb{C}$$
,  $w|_{(0,R)} \in \mathrm{H}^2((0,R), r \,\mathrm{d}r)$ ,  $w|_{(R,\infty)} \in \mathrm{H}^2_{\mathsf{loc}}([R,\infty), r \,\mathrm{d}r)$  such that

$$-\frac{1}{r}\partial_r(n^{p-1}r\partial_r w) + n^{p-1}\left(\frac{m^2}{r^2} - k^2 n^2\right)w = 0 \qquad \text{in } (0,R) \text{ and } (R,+\infty) \quad (1.4a)$$

$$[w] = 0$$
 and  $[n^{p-1}w'] = 0$  for  $r = R$  (1.4b)

$$\mathsf{W}(r) = \mathsf{H}_m^{(1)}(kr) \qquad \qquad \text{for } r > R \qquad (1.4c)$$

Note that the radiation condition (1.4c) implies that w is solution of (1.4a) in  $(R, \infty)$ . When m = 0 a Neumann condition at the origin should be added. When m is nonzero, we have a natural zero Dirichlet condition at 0 due to the blow up of the centrifugal potential.

1.2. Circular cavity with constant optical index. As a fundamental illustrative example, let us consider a circular cavity with *constant* optical index  $n \equiv n_0 > 1$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Though apparently simple, this case is indeed already very rich. The use of partly analytic formulas provides a lot of information on the resonance set and the associated modes. Let us sketch this now. For both TM and TE modes, solutions w of (1.4) have the form

$$w(r) = \begin{cases} \mathsf{J}_m(n_0 k r) & \text{if } r \le R\\ \frac{\mathsf{J}_m(n_0 k R)}{\mathsf{H}_m^{(1)}(k R)} \mathsf{H}_m^{(1)}(k r) & \text{if } r > R. \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

Here  $J_m$  refers to the order *m* Bessel function of the first kind and  $H_m^{(1)}$  refers to the order *m* Hankel function of the first kind. In both TE and TM cases, the resonance *k* is obtained as a solution to the following non-linear equation, termed *modal equation* (recall that p = 1 for TM modes and p = -1 for TE modes)

$$n_0^p \mathsf{J}'_m(n_0 Rk) \,\mathsf{H}_m^{(1)}(Rk) - \mathsf{J}_m(n_0 Rk) \,\mathsf{H}_m^{(1)'}(Rk) = 0. \tag{1.6}$$

For each value of the polar mode index m, the modal equation (1.6) has infinitely many solutions  $k \in \mathbb{C}$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{R}_p[n_0, R](m)$  this set. Because  $\mathsf{J}_{-m}(\rho) = (-1)^m \mathsf{J}_m(\rho)$  and the same for  $\mathsf{H}_m^{(1)}$ , the two integers  $\pm m$  provide the same resonance values, which reflects a degeneracy of resonances for disk-cavities. Thus, we can restrict the discussion to nonnegative integer values of m.



FIGURE 3. Roots of (1.6) when  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$ ,  $n_0 = 1.5$ , R = 1, and  $0 \le m \le 60$ . The first row gives a global view, whereas the second row provides a zoom on inner resonances. The color of dots displays the value of index m according to the color bar.

In Figure 3, we show the complex roots of equation (1.6) when  $n_0 = 1.5$ , R = 1, and  $0 \le m \le 60$ , the values of m being distinguished by a color scale. This figure displays clearly the general features of the set of resonances. For each m the set of resonances  $\Re_p[n_0, R](m)$  can be split into two parts, see [7],

- an infinite part  $\mathscr{R}_{p,\text{inner}}[n_0, R](m)$  made of *inner resonances* for which the modes are essentially supported inside the disk  $\Omega$
- a finite part  $\mathcal{R}_{p, \text{outer}}[n_0, R](m)$  made of *outer resonances* for which the modes are essentially supported outside the disk  $\Omega$ .

The sets of inner and outer resonances are given by

$$\mathscr{R}_{p,\,\mathsf{inner}}[n_0,R] = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathscr{R}_{p,\,\mathsf{inner}}[n_0,R](m) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathscr{R}_{p,\,\mathsf{outer}}[n_0,R] = \bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathscr{R}_{p,\,\mathsf{outer}}[n_0,R](m)$$

respectively. It appears that for TM modes (p = 1) there exists a negative threshold  $\tau$  such that the outer resonances satisfy  $\text{Im } k < \tau$ , and the inner ones,  $\text{Im } k \ge \tau$ . We can clearly see on Fig 3 some organization in sub-families, not indexed by m (i.e., m varies along these

families). Observation of the associated modes shows that these families depend on another parameter, j, which can be called a *radial mode index*: This is the number of sign changes (or nodal points) of the real part of an associated mode. For inner resonances, the sign changes occur inside the disk. For outer resonances, there is no such interpretation in term of sign changes but they can be linked to the resonances of the exterior Dirichlet problem: One can see in [5, eq. (49)] that when  $m \to +\infty$ , outer resonances tend to the zeros of Hankel function  $k \mapsto H_m^{(1)}(Rk)$ .

Inner resonances will be denoted by  $k_{p;j}(m)$ , with p = 1 and p = -1 according to the TM and TE cases respectively, and with m and j the polar and radial mode indices, respectively. Then there exist two distinct asymptotics for  $k_{p;j}(m)$  according to  $j \to \infty$  or  $m \to \infty$ .

On the one hand, direct calculations yield, [25, Section 3.3.1], when  $p = \pm 1$  and  $j \to +\infty$ 

$$k_{p;j}(m) \sim \frac{j\pi}{Rn_0} + \frac{(2m+2-p)\pi}{4Rn_0} + \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2Rn_0} \ln\left(\frac{n_0-1}{n_0+1}\right).$$

Thus, as  $j \to \infty$ , the imaginary part of  $k_{p;j}(m)$  tends to the negative value  $\frac{1}{2n_0} \ln(\frac{n_0-1}{n_0+1})$ . For the example displayed in Figure 3, this value is -0.53648. This same value can also be found in the physical literature, see [10, eq. (13)] for example.

On the other hand, using asymptotic expansions of Bessel's functions involved in the modal equation (1.6), one obtains that resonances  $k_{p;j}(m)$  for a given radial index j satisfy the following asymptotic expansion when  $m \to +\infty$ :

$$k_{p;j}(m) = \frac{m}{Rn_0} \left[ 1 + \frac{\mathbf{a}_j}{2} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{2}{3}} - \frac{n_0^p}{2(n_0^2 - 1)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right) + \frac{3\mathbf{a}_j^2}{40} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{4}{3}} - \mathbf{a}_j \frac{n_0^p (3n_0^2 - 2n_0^{2p})}{12(n_0^2 - 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{5}{3}} + \mathcal{O}\left( m^{-2} \right) \right]. \quad (1.7)$$

For details, we refer to [22] where computations were carried out for a sphere and therefore spherical Bessel's functions appears in this latter case in the modal equation instead of cylindrical Bessel's functions. In the asymptotic expansion (1.7),  $0 < a_0 < a_1 < a_2 < \cdots$  are the successive roots of the flipped Airy function  $A : z \in \mathbb{C} \mapsto Ai(-z)$  where Ai denotes the Airy function. It is important to note that the terms in the asymptotic expansions are *real*: Hence the imaginary part of  $k_{p;j}(m)$  is contained in the remainder. This part of the resonance set correspond to typical whispering gallery modes.

We observe the following whispering gallery mode features when j is chosen and m gets large, see Fig. 4:

- (1) The resonances obtained by solving the modal equation (1.6) have a *negative imagi*nary part which tends to zero rapidly (exponentially) when  $m \to \infty$ .
- (2) The modes  $u = w_m(r) e^{im\theta}$  with  $w_m$  given by (1.5) for k solution of (1.6) concentrate around the interface between the disk and the exterior medium.

1.3. Radially varying index: Main results. The proof of the formula (1.7) given in [22] relies on the modal equation (1.6) and makes use of asymptotic formulas for Bessel functions [27, 1]. Such an approach is specific to disks with constant optical index, and the number of terms in the expansion is limited by the asymptotics as  $m \to \infty$  of Bessel functions available in the literature.

In this paper we develop a more versatile approach, based on multiscale expansions and semiclassical analysis. The idea is to consider  $h = \frac{1}{m}$  as small parameter and to take advantage of the factor  $m^2$  in front of  $\frac{1}{r^2}$  in equation (1.4a) to transform this equation into a semiclassical 1-dimensional Schrödinger operator with a singular potential W. Generically,



FIGURE 4. Plots of real parts of TM modes u in a circular cavity of radius R = 1 and index n = 1.5 (computed by solving the modal equation (1.6) using complex integration [29]). Below each plot, we give values of computed resonances  $k \in \mathbb{C}$ . Each row corresponds to a distinct value of j, from 0 to 2.

W will have a potential well at r = R. We perform an asymptotic construction of quasiresonances and quasi-modes in the vicinity of r = R, in such a way that we can rely on the general arguments of the black box scattering to deduce the existence of true resonances close to quasi-resonances modulo  $\mathscr{O}(m^{-\infty})$ , i.e., more rapidly than any polynomial in  $\frac{1}{m}$ . Unless explicitly mentioned, we suppose the following.

Assumption 1.1. The radial function  $n: r \mapsto n(r)$  satisfies the following properties

- (1) n(r) = 1 if r > R;
- (2) The function  $r \mapsto n(r)$  belongs to  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0, R])$  and n(r) > 1 for all  $r \leq R$ .

This assumption motivates the following notations.

Notation 1.2. We denote by  $n_i(R)$  the limit values of  $\partial_r^i n(r)$  as r tends to R from inside the cavity, namely

$$n_0 = \lim_{r \nearrow R} n(r), \quad n_1 = \lim_{r \nearrow R} n'(r), \quad n_2 = \lim_{r \nearrow R} n''(r).$$
 (1.8)

In the sequel we also handle the *effective adimensional curvature*  $\breve{\kappa} = R\kappa_{\text{eff}}$ 

$$\breve{\kappa} \coloneqq R\left(\frac{1}{R} + \frac{n_1}{n_0}\right). \tag{1.9}$$

The next quantity arising in asymptotics is the adimensional hessian

$$\breve{\mu} \coloneqq R^2 \left( \frac{2}{R^2} - \frac{n_2}{n_0} \right).$$
(1.10)

In this paper we prove expansions of resonances as  $m \to \infty$  in three distinct cases discriminated by the sign of  $\check{\kappa}$ . Such expansions are "modulo  $\mathscr{O}(m^{-\infty})$ " in a sense defined below.

**Notation 1.3.** Let  $(a_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of numbers:

$$a_m = \mathscr{O}(m^{-\infty})$$
 means that  $\forall N \in \mathbb{N}, \exists C_N \text{ such that } |a_m| \leq C_N m^{-N}, \forall m \in \mathbb{N}.$ 

**Theorem 1.A.** Assume that the radial function *n* satisfies Assumption 1.1 and

$$\breve{\kappa} > 0. \tag{1.11}$$

Choose  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$  and denote by  $\mathcal{R}_p[n, R]$  the resonance set solution to problem (1.2). Then for any  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a smooth real function  $K_{p;j} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1]) : t \mapsto K_{p;j}(t)$  defining distinct sequences

$$\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = m \operatorname{K}_{p;j}\left(m^{-\frac{1}{3}}\right), \quad \forall m \ge 1$$
(1.12)

that are close modulo  $\mathfrak{O}(m^{-\infty})$  to the resonance set  $\mathscr{R}_p[n, R]$ , i.e. for each m, there exists  $k_m \in \mathscr{R}_p[n, R]$  such that  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) - k_m = \mathfrak{O}(m^{-\infty})$ . Let  $\mathrm{K}_{p;j}^{\ell}$  be the coefficients of the Taylor expansion of  $\mathrm{K}_{p;j}$  at t = 0. We have, with numbers  $a_j$  being the successive roots of the flipped Airy function,

$$\mathbf{K}_{p;j}^{0} = \frac{1}{Rn_{0}}, \quad \mathbf{K}_{p;j}^{1} = 0, \quad \mathbf{K}_{p;j}^{2} = \frac{1}{Rn_{0}} \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}}{2} (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{2}{3}}.$$
 (1.13)

All coefficients  $K_{p;j}^{\ell}$  are calculable, being the solution of an explicit algorithm involving matrix products and matrix inversions in finite dimensions.

We refer to Section 4.1 for expressions of quasi-modes and more terms in the resonance expansions. As a consequence of Theorem 1.A, for each chosen p and j, there exists a sequence of true resonances  $m \mapsto k_{p;j}(m) \in \mathcal{R}_p[n, R]$  such that

$$k_{p;j}(m) = m \left[ \sum_{\ell=0}^{N-1} \mathcal{K}_{p;j}^{\ell} \left( \frac{1}{m} \right)^{\frac{\ell}{3}} + \mathcal{O} \left( \frac{1}{m} \right)^{\frac{N}{3}} \right] \quad \forall N \ge 1.$$
(1.14)

This clearly generalizes (1.7).

When  $\breve{\kappa}$  is zero and if the hessian  $\breve{\mu}$  is positive, we have a similar statement, the powers of  $m^{-\frac{1}{3}}$  being replaced by powers of  $m^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ :

**Theorem 1.B.** Assume that the radial function *n* satisfies Assumption 1.1 and

$$\ddot{\kappa} = 0 \quad with \quad \breve{\mu} > 0. \tag{1.15}$$

Then for any  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a smooth real function  $K_{p;j} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1]) : t \mapsto K_{p;j}(t)$ defining distinct sequences

$$\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = m \operatorname{K}_{p;j}\left(m^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right), \quad \forall m \ge 1$$
(1.16)

that are close modulo  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$  to the resonance set  $\mathcal{R}_p[n, R]$ . The first coefficients of the Taylor expansion of  $K_{p;j}$  at t = 0 are

$$K_{p;j}^{0} = \frac{1}{Rn_{0}}, \quad K_{p;j}^{1} = 0, \quad K_{p;j}^{2} = \frac{1}{Rn_{0}} \frac{(4j+3)\sqrt{\mu}}{2}.$$
 (1.17)

We refer to Section 5.1 for more details. Note that, in contrast to the case  $\breve{\kappa} > 0$ , the coefficients  $K_{p;i}^{\ell}$  are not calculable (except the first four of them) in the sense that their determination needs the inversion of infinite dimensional matrices.

Unlike the two previous cases for which the quasi-modes are localized near the interface r = R, in the third case the quasi-modes are localized near an internal circle  $r = R_0$  with some  $R_0 < R$ .

**Theorem 1.C.** Assume that the radial function n satisfies Assumption 1.1 and that  $\breve{\kappa} < 0$ . Let  $R_0 \in (0, R)$  such that  $1 + \frac{R_0 n'(R_0)}{n(R_0)} = 0$  and assume further that

$$\breve{\mu}_0 \coloneqq R_0^2 \left( \frac{2}{R_0^2} - \frac{n''(R_0)}{n(R_0)} \right) > 0.$$
(1.18)

Then a similar statement as in Theorem 1.B holds. The first coefficients of the Taylor expansion of  $K_{p;i}$  at t = 0 are now, instead of (1.17),

$$\mathbf{K}_{p;j}^{0} = \frac{1}{R_{0}n(R_{0})}, \quad \mathbf{K}_{p;j}^{1} = 0, \quad \mathbf{K}_{p;j}^{2} = \frac{1}{R_{0}n(R_{0})} \frac{(2j+3)\sqrt{\mu_{0}}}{2}.$$
 (1.19)

We refer to Section 6.1 for more details. Note that in this case the coefficients  $K_{p;j}^{\ell}$  are all calculable in the sense introduced in Theorem 1.A.

*Example* 1.4. The parametric profile (0.1) illustrates the three above cases: Depending on the parameter  $\delta$  the profile fits the assumptions of the three theorems 1.A, 1.B, and 1.C. Here  $\breve{\kappa} = 1 - \frac{\delta R}{2}.$ 

- (A) If  $\delta < \frac{2}{R}$  then  $\breve{\kappa} > 0$ , hence Theorem 1.A applies. (B) If  $\delta = \frac{2}{R}$  then  $\breve{\kappa} = 0$  and  $\breve{\mu} = 3$ , hence Theorem 1.B applies. (C) If  $\delta > \frac{2}{R}$  then  $\breve{\kappa} < 0$ ,  $R_0 = \frac{2(1+\delta R)}{3\tau} < R$ , and  $\breve{\mu}_0 = 3$ , hence Theorem 1.C applies.

Remark 1.5. Theorems 1.A, 1.B, 1.C state that there exist true resonances that are superalgebraically close to our constructed quasi-resonances. This does not mean that all resonances are described by this construction. On the one hand, the optical index n may generate an effective potential with multiple wells: For example the same index n can generate quasiresonances of type (A) and of type (C). Likewise our analysis still applies if the index n is piecewise smooth with a finite number of jumps. Then we may have several half-triangular wells of type (A) and the related quasi-resonances. On the other hand, the whole landscape of resonances is wide: It contains families of outer resonances and inner resonances that are not of WGM type, see Fig. 3 and also [35].

#### 2. FAMILIES OF RESONANCE QUASI-PAIRS

Inspired by quasi-pair constructions used to investigate ground states in semiclassical analysis of Schrödinger operators (see SIMON [31] for instance), we are going to construct families of resonance quasi-pairs for problem (1.2). Here appears a fundamental difference: The quasi-pair construction in semiclassical analysis consists in building approximate eigenpairs  $(\lambda_h, u_h)$  that solve  $A_h u_h = \lambda_h u_h$  with increasingly small error as  $h \to 0$  where  $A_h$  is for instance the operator  $-h^2\Delta + V$ . In our case, we do not have any given semiclassical parameter h. However, the term  $\frac{m^2}{r^2}$  in equation of (1.4a) may play the role of a confining potential in a semiclassical framework if we set

$$h = \frac{1}{|m|}$$

This means that an internal frequency parameter m can be viewed as a driving parameter for an asymptotic study. This leads to the next definition for quasi-pairs, adapted to our problem.

**Definition 2.1.** Choose  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$ . A *family of resonance quasi-pairs*  $\mathfrak{F}_p$  for problem (1.2) is formed by a sequence  $\mathfrak{K}_p = (\underline{k}(m))_{m \ge 1}$  of real numbers called quasi-resonances and a sequence  $\mathfrak{U}_p = (\underline{u}(m))_{m \ge 1}$  of complex valued functions called quasi-modes, where for each  $m \ge 1$ , the couple  $(\underline{k}(m), \underline{u}(m))$  is a quasi-pair for problem (1.2) with an error in  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$  when  $m \to \infty$ . More precisely, we mean that

(1) For any  $m \ge 1$ , the functions  $\underline{u}(m)$  belong to the domain of the operator and are normalized,

$$\underline{u}(m) \in \mathrm{H}^{2}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{2}, \Omega) \quad \text{and} \quad \|\underline{u}(m)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})} = 1$$

where

$$H^{2}_{p}(\mathbb{R}^{2},\Omega) = \left\{ u \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2}) \mid u \mid_{\Omega} \in H^{2}(\Omega), u \mid_{\mathbb{R}^{2} \setminus \overline{\Omega}} \in H^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2} \setminus \overline{\Omega}), \\ [u]_{\partial\Omega} = 0, \text{ and } [n^{p-1} \partial_{\nu} u]_{\partial\Omega} = 0 \right\}.$$

$$(2.1)$$

(2) We have the following quasi-pair estimate as  $m \to +\infty$ ,

$$\left|-\operatorname{div}\left(n^{p-1}\nabla\underline{u}(m)\right) - \underline{k}(m)^{2} n^{p+1} \underline{u}(m)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})} = \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\infty}\right).$$
(2.2)

(3) Uniform localization: There exists a function  $\mathfrak{X} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2), 0 \leq \mathfrak{X} \leq 1$ , such that

$$\|\mathfrak{X}\underline{u}(m)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)} \ge \frac{1}{2}$$
 and (2.2) holds with  $\mathfrak{X}\underline{u}(m)$  replacing  $\underline{u}(m)$ .

(4) Regularity with respect to m: There exist a positive real number  $\beta$  and a smooth function  $K \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1]) : t \mapsto K(t)$  such that

$$\frac{\underline{k}(m)}{m} = \mathbf{K}(m^{-\beta}) \quad \forall m \ge 1.$$
(2.3)

If the cut-off function  $\mathfrak{X}$  in item (3) can be taken as any function that is  $\equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of  $\partial\Omega$  for *m* large enough, we say that the family  $\mathfrak{F}_p$  is a family of *whispering gallery type*.

*Remark* 2.2. By Taylor expansion of the function K at t = 0, we obtain that a consequence of (2.3) is the existence of coefficients  $K_{\ell}$ ,  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , and constants  $C_N$  such that

$$\forall N \ge 1, \qquad \left| \frac{\underline{k}(m)}{m} - \sum_{\ell=0}^{N-1} \mathbf{K}_{\ell} \, m^{-\ell\beta} \right| \le C_N \, m^{-N\beta}. \tag{2.4}$$

Note that the asymptotics (1.7) satisfies such an estimate with  $\beta = \frac{1}{3}$  and N = 6.

*Remark* 2.3. The estimate (2.2) implies a bound from below for the resolvent of the underlying operator, compare with [24, §6]: At quasi-resonances, we have a *blow up of the resolvent*.

# 3. CLASSIFICATION OF THE THREE TYPICAL BEHAVIORS BY A SCHRÖDINGER ANALOGY

In our way to prove Theorems 1.A–1.C, we transform the family of problems (1.4) when m spans  $\mathbb{N}^*$  into a family of 1-dimensional Schrödinger operators depending on the semiclassical parameter  $h = \frac{1}{m}$ .

Namely, choosing a polar mode index  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and coming back to the ODE contained in problem (1.4) divided by  $n^{p+1}$ , we obtain the equation:

$$-\frac{1}{rn^{p+1}}\partial_r(n^{p-1}r\partial_r w) + \frac{m^2}{r^2n^2}w - k^2w = 0$$
(3.1)

As a start, we write a quasi-resonance as (compare with (1.7))

$$\underline{k}(m)^2 = m^2 E$$



FIGURE 5. The three typical local behaviors of the potential W: half-triangular potential well ( $\tilde{\kappa} > 0$ ), half-quadratic potential well ( $\tilde{\kappa} = 0$ ) and quadratic potential well ( $\tilde{\kappa} < 0$ ).

where the energy E depends on h and has to be found. Multiplying (3.1) by  $h^2 = 1/m^2$ , we find that (3.1) takes the form of a one dimensional semiclassical Schrödinger modal equation

$$-h^2 \mathcal{H}w + Ww = Ew, \tag{3.2}$$

where  $\mathcal{H}$  is the second order differential operator

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{rn^{p+1}}\partial_r(n^{p-1}r\partial_r)$$
(3.3)

and W is the potential

$$W(r) = \left(\frac{1}{r n(r)}\right)^2.$$
(3.4)

The operator  $-h^2 \mathcal{H} + W$  is self-adjoint on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, n^{p+1}r dr)$ . We note that

$$\lim_{r \nearrow R} W(r) = \left(\frac{1}{R n_0}\right)^2 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{r \searrow R} W(r) = \left(\frac{1}{R}\right)^2.$$
(3.5)

Since  $n_0 > 1$ , we have a potential barrier at r = R. The first and second derivatives of W on (0, R] are given by

$$W'(r) = -2\left(\frac{1}{r\,n(r)}\right)^2 \left[\frac{1}{r} + \frac{n'(r)}{n(r)}\right],\tag{3.6a}$$

$$W''(r) = 2\left(\frac{1}{r\,n(r)}\right)^2 \left[3\left(\frac{1}{r} + \frac{n'(r)}{n(r)}\right)^2 - \frac{2n'(r)}{rn(r)} - \frac{n''(r)}{n(r)}\right].$$
(3.6b)

The local minima (potential wells) of W cause the existence of resonances near these energy levels and their asymptotic structure as  $h \to 0$  is determined by the Taylor expansion of W at its local minima. Let us recall that  $\breve{\kappa} = R(\frac{1}{R} + \frac{n_1}{n_0})$  using notation (1.8). The sign of  $\breve{\kappa}$  (if it is positive, zero, or negative) discriminates three typical behaviors in which case we can construct families of resonance quasi-pairs (see Theorems 1.A, 1.B, 1.C):

- (A)  $\breve{\kappa} > 0$ . Then W is decreasing on a left neighborhood of R and has a local minimum at R. In a two-sided neighborhood of R, W is tangent to a *half-triangular potential* well, see Fig. 5 (A).
- (B)  $\breve{\kappa} = 0$ . In this case, we assume that W''(R) > 0, which is ensured by the condition

$$\frac{2}{R^2} - \frac{n_2}{n_0} > 0$$
 while  $\frac{1}{R} + \frac{n_1}{n_0} = 0.$  (3.7)

Then W has a local minimum at R. In a two-sided neighborhood of R, W is tangent to a *half-quadratic potential well*, see Fig. 5 (B).

(C)  $\check{\kappa} < 0$ . Then W has no local minimum at R. But, since  $\lim_{r\to 0^+} W(r) = +\infty$ , it has at least one local interior minimum  $R_0$  over (0, R). Now we assume that  $W''(R_0) > 0$ , which is ensured by the condition

$$\frac{2}{R_0^2} - \frac{n''(R_0)}{n(R_0)} > 0 \quad \text{while} \quad \frac{1}{R_0} + \frac{n'(R_0)}{n(R_0)} = 0.$$
(3.8)

Then W has a local non-degenerate minimum at  $R_0$  where it is tangent to a *quadratic* potential well, see Fig. 5 (C).

#### 4. CASE (A) HALF-TRIANGULAR POTENTIAL WELL

The case  $\breve{\kappa} > 0$  is in a certain sense the most canonical one, since it includes constant optical indices  $n \equiv n_0$  inside  $\Omega$ . In this section, after stating the result, we perform the details of construction of families of resonance quasi-pairs.

4.1. **Statements.** Recall that Assumption 1.1 is supposed to hold and that  $n_0$ ,  $\breve{\kappa}$  and  $\breve{\mu}$  are defined in Notation 1.2. We give now, in the case when  $\breve{\kappa}$  is positive, the complete description of the quasi-pairs that we construct in the rest of this section. This statement has to be combined with Theorem 7.D to imply Theorem 1.A.

**Theorem 4.A.** Choose  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$ . If  $\breve{\kappa} > 0$ , there exists for each natural integer j, a family of resonance quasi-pairs  $\mathfrak{F}_{p;j} = (\mathfrak{K}_{p;j}, \mathfrak{U}_{p;j})$  of whispering gallery type (cf. Definition 2.1) for which the sequence of numbers  $\mathfrak{K}_{p;j} = (\underline{k}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  and the sequence of functions  $\mathfrak{U}_{p;j} = (\underline{u}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  have the following properties:

(i) The regularity property (2.3)–(2.4) with respect to m holds with  $\beta = \frac{1}{3}$ : There exist coefficients  $K_{p;j}^{\ell}$  for any  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , and constants  $C_N$  such that

$$\forall N \ge 1, \qquad \left| \frac{\underline{k}_{p;j}(m)}{m} - \sum_{\ell=0}^{N-1} \mathbf{K}_{p;j}^{\ell} \, m^{-\frac{\ell}{3}} \right| \le C_N \, m^{-N/3}.$$
 (4.1)

The coefficients  $K_{p;j}^0$  (degree 0) are all equal to  $\frac{1}{Rn_0}$ , the coefficients of degree 1 are zero, and the coefficients of degree 2 are all distinct with *j*, see (4.5).

(ii) The functions  $\underline{u}_{p;j}(m)$  forming the sequence  $\mathfrak{U}_{p;j}$  have the form

$$\underline{u}_{p;j}(m;x,y) = \underline{w}_{p;j}(m;r) e^{\mathrm{i}m\theta}$$
(4.2)

where the radial functions  $\underline{w}_{p;j}(m)$  have a boundary layer structure around r = R with different scaled variables  $\sigma$  as r < R and  $\rho$  as r > R:

$$\sigma = m^{\frac{2}{3}} \left( \frac{r}{R} - 1 \right) \quad \text{if} \quad r < R \quad \text{and} \quad \rho = m \left( \frac{r}{R} - 1 \right) \quad \text{if} \quad r > R.$$
(4.3)

This means that there exist smooth functions  $\Phi_{p;j} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-})) : (t,\sigma) \mapsto \Phi_{p;j}(t,\sigma)$ and  $\Psi_{p;j} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+})) : (t,\rho) \mapsto \Psi_{p;j}(t,\rho)$  such that

$$\underline{w}_{p;j}(m;r) = \mathfrak{X}(r) \left( \mathbb{1}_{r < R}(r) \, \Phi_{p;j}(m^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \sigma) + \mathbb{1}_{r > R}(r) \, \Psi_{p;j}(m^{-\frac{1}{3}}, \rho) \right)$$
(4.4)

where  $\mathfrak{X} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ ,  $\mathfrak{X} \equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of R.

The first terms of the expansions of the quasi-pairs  $(\underline{k}_{p;j}(m), \underline{w}_{p;j}(m))$  in powers of  $m^{\frac{1}{3}}$  are given below.

4.1.1. *Resonances.* The asymptotics of  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m)$  starts as

$$\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = \frac{m}{Rn_0} \left[ 1 + \frac{\mathbf{a}_j}{2} \left( \frac{2\breve{\kappa}}{m} \right)^{\frac{2}{3}} - \frac{n_0^p}{2\sqrt{n_0^2 - 1}} \left( \frac{2\breve{\kappa}}{m} \right) + \mathbf{k}_{p;j}^4 \left( \frac{2\breve{\kappa}}{m} \right)^{\frac{4}{3}} + \mathbf{k}_{p;j}^5 \left( \frac{2\breve{\kappa}}{m} \right)^{\frac{5}{3}} + \mathcal{O}\left( m^{-2} \right) \right] \quad (4.5)$$

where, as before, the  $a_j$  are the successive roots of the flipped Airy function and the coefficients  $k_{p;j}^4$  and  $k_{p;j}^5$  are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{k}_{p;j}^{4} &= \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}^{2}}{15} \left( \frac{17}{8} - \frac{3}{\breve{\kappa}} + \frac{\breve{\mu}}{\breve{\kappa}^{2}} \right), \\ \mathbf{k}_{p;j}^{5} &= -\frac{\mathbf{a}_{j} n_{0}^{p}}{12\sqrt{n_{0}^{2} - 1}} \left( \frac{3n_{0}^{2} - 2n_{0}^{2p}}{n_{0}^{2} - 1} + 2 - \frac{6}{\breve{\kappa}} + \frac{2\breve{\mu}}{\breve{\kappa}^{2}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

*Remark* 4.1. Note that the second term of (4.5) separates the families  $\mathfrak{F}_{p;j}$ , while the third term distinguishes the TM (p = 1) and TE (p = -1) modes. In the case of Dirichlet conditions, the first two terms are the same, whereas the third one is zero, [3, Sec. 7.4].

4.1.2. *Modes.* The asymptotic expansions of the radial part of the quasi-modes  $\underline{w}_{p;j}(m)$  in (4.2) starts as

$$\underline{w}_{p;j}(m;r) = \mathfrak{X}(r) \left( \mathbf{W}_{p;j}^{0}(m;r) + \left(\frac{1}{m}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \mathbf{W}_{p;j}^{1}(m;r) \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\frac{2}{3}}\right), \qquad (4.6)$$

where, using the scaled variables  $\sigma=m^{\frac{2}{3}}(\frac{r}{R}-1)$  and  $\rho=m(\frac{r}{R}-1)$ 

$$\mathbf{w}_{p;j}^{0}(m;r) = \begin{cases} \mathsf{A}\left(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma\right) & \text{if } r < R, \\ 0 & \text{if } r \ge R, \end{cases}$$
(4.7)

and

$$W_{p;j}^{1}(m;r) = \frac{-n_{0}^{p} (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}}{\sqrt{n_{0}^{2} - 1}} \begin{cases} \mathsf{A}' \big( \mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}} \sigma \big) & \text{if } r < R, \\ \mathsf{A}'(\mathsf{a}_{j}) \exp \big( -\frac{\sqrt{n_{0}^{2} - 1}}{n_{0}} \rho \big) & \text{if } r \ge R. \end{cases}$$
(4.8)

4.1.3. Special case of a constant optical index. In the constant index case  $n \equiv n_0 > 1$ , we have  $\breve{\kappa} = 1$  and we find the following 8-term expansion of the resonances for the circular cavity. For an improved readability, we distinguish the TM and TE case and we denote  $\underline{k}_{p;j}$  by  $\underline{k}_j^{\text{TM}}$  if p = 1 and by  $\underline{k}_j^{\text{TE}}$  if p = -1. We have

$$k_{j}^{\text{TM}}(m) = \frac{m}{Rn_{0}} \left[ 1 + \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}}{2} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{2}{3}} - \frac{n_{0}}{2(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right) + \frac{3 \mathbf{a}_{j}^{2}}{40} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{4}{3}} - \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j} n_{0}^{3}}{12(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{5}{3}} + \frac{10 - \mathbf{a}_{j}^{3}}{2800} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{2} + \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}^{2} n_{0}^{2} (n_{0}^{2} - 4)}{80(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{\frac{5}{2}}} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{7}{3}} - \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}}{144} \left( \frac{1}{175} + \frac{479 \, \mathbf{a}_{j}^{3}}{7000} + \frac{2n_{0}^{6}}{(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{3}} \right) \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{8}{3}} + \mathcal{O} \left( m^{-3} \right) \right]$$
(4.9)

and

$$\begin{aligned} k_{j}^{\text{TE}}(m) &= \frac{m}{Rn_{0}} \left[ 1 + \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}}{2} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{2}{3}} - \frac{1}{2n_{0}(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right) + \frac{3 \, \mathbf{a}_{j}^{2}}{40} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{4}{3}} \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j} \left( 3n_{0}^{2} - 2 \right)}{12n_{0}^{3}(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{5}{3}} + \frac{1}{8} \left( \frac{1}{35} - \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}^{3}}{350} + \frac{1}{n_{0}^{4}(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{2}} \right) \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{2} \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}^{2} \left( 3n_{0}^{8} + 12n_{0}^{6} - 12n_{0}^{4} - 8n_{0}^{2} + 8 \right)}{80n_{0}^{5}(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{\frac{5}{2}}} \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{7}{3}} \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{\mathbf{a}_{j}}{144} \left( \frac{1}{175} + \frac{479 \, \mathbf{a}_{j}^{3}}{7000} + \frac{18n_{0}^{8} - 45n_{0}^{6} + 12n_{0}^{4} + 45n_{0}^{2} - 28}{n_{0}^{6}(n_{0}^{2} - 1)^{3}} \right) \left( \frac{2}{m} \right)^{\frac{8}{3}} \\ &\left. + \mathcal{O} \left( m^{-3} \right) \right] \end{aligned} \tag{4.10}$$

4.2. **Proof: General concepts.** As explained in Sect. 3, the problem under consideration has the form (3.2) of the semi-classical Schrödinger equation  $-h^2 \mathcal{H}w + Ww = Ew$ , where  $\mathcal{H}$  is a modified Laplacian, W is a potential, discontinuous at the interface r = R, and  $h = \frac{1}{m}$  is the semiclassical parameter. Recall that in both cases (A) and (B), the potential W has a local minimum at R, with the distinctive feature that for r < R, the shape of W is triangular in case (A), and quadratic in case (B). The rationale of the quasi-resonance construction is to localize equation around the well bottom r = R and to scale variables appropriately so that equation (3.2) can be solved by a multiscale power expansion. In this section, we describe the general concepts of the proof, common to the two cases (A) and (B).

4.2.1. Localization around the interface. The localization starts with the introduction of the dimensionless variable  $\xi = \frac{r}{R} - 1 \in (-1, +\infty)$  for which the disk boundary is translated to the origin. Accordingly, we denote by  $\tilde{n}$  the optical index function in this new variable, viz

$$\tilde{n}: \xi \mapsto n(R(1+\xi))$$

and, for all  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , we set  $\tilde{n}_q = \tilde{n}^{(q)}(0)$ , the q-th derivative of  $\tilde{n}$  at 0. Referring to Notation 1.2, we have  $\tilde{n}_q = R^q n_q$  and (cf. (1.9) and (1.15))

$$\breve{\kappa} = 1 + \frac{\breve{n}_1}{\tilde{n}_0} \quad \text{and} \quad \breve{\mu} = 2 - \frac{\breve{n}_2}{\tilde{n}_0}.$$
(4.11)

Since  $\tilde{n}_0 = n_0$ , we will most often use the notation  $n_0$ .

The minimum of W at r = R is its left limit  $W_0 := \lim_{r \nearrow R} W(r) = (Rn_0)^{-2}$ . Using the change of variables  $r \mapsto \xi$ , we set

$$\mathscr{L}(\xi, \partial_{\xi}) = R^2 n_0^2 \mathscr{H}(r, \partial_r), \quad V(\xi) = R^2 n_0^2 (W(r) - W_0), \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{E} = R^2 n_0^2 (E - W_0),$$

so that equation (3.2) is transformed into

$$-h^2 \mathscr{L}v + Vv = \widetilde{E}v, \tag{4.12a}$$

with the new unknown function  $v(\xi) = w(R(1+\xi))$ . We have

$$\mathcal{L}(\xi, \partial_{\xi}) = \frac{n_0^2}{\tilde{n}(\xi)^2} \,\partial_{\xi}^2 + n_0^2 \left(\frac{1}{(1+\xi)\,\tilde{n}(\xi)^2} + (p-1)\frac{\tilde{n}'(\xi)}{\tilde{n}(\xi)^3}\right) \partial_{\xi}$$
$$V(\xi) = \left(\frac{n_0}{(1+\xi)\,\tilde{n}(\xi)}\right)^2 - 1.$$

Note that the potential V has 0 as local minimum at  $\xi = 0$  (well bottom).

18

The unknown function v satisfies furthermore the following jump condition at  $\xi = 0$  deduced from (1.4b)

$$[v]_{\{0\}} = 0$$
 and  $[\tilde{n}^{p-1}\partial_{\xi}v]_{\{0\}} = 0$  (4.12b)

and the decay conditions in Schwarz spaces when  $\xi \to \pm \infty$ :

$$v^{-} \coloneqq v|_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-}) \quad \text{and} \quad v^{+} \coloneqq v|_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+}).$$
 (4.12c)

Our concern now is to construct quasi-resonances and quasi-modes localized around the well bottom  $\xi = 0$ , solutions to (4.12a)–(4.12c) in an asymptotic sense.

4.2.2. *Principal part of the Schrödinger modal equation*. The structure of quasi-pairs is determined by the *principal part* of problem (4.12a)-(4.12c) defined as:

$$-h^2 \underline{\mathscr{L}}_0 v + \underline{V}_0 v = \underline{\Lambda} v \tag{4.13a}$$

where

- (1) The operator  $\underline{\mathscr{L}}_0 = (\underline{\mathscr{L}}_0^-, \underline{\mathscr{L}}_0^+) = (\partial_{\xi}^2, n_0^2 \partial_{\xi}^2)$  is the principal part of  $\mathscr{L}$  frozen at  $\xi = 0$  on the left and on the right,
- (2) The associated jump conditions are

$$v^{-}(0) = v^{+}(0)$$
 and  $n_0^{p-1} \partial_{\xi} v^{-}(0) = \partial_{\xi} v^{+}(0)$  (4.13b)

and the decay condition is the same as above

$$v^{-} \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-}) \quad \text{and} \quad v^{+} \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+}).$$
 (4.13c)

(3) The potential  $\underline{V}_0 = (\underline{V}_0^-, \underline{V}_0^+)$  is the first nonzero term in the left and right Taylor expansions of V at  $\xi = 0$ . In any of the cases (A) and (B),  $\underline{V}_0^+ = n_0^2 - 1 > 0$ , whereas

$$\underline{V}_{0}^{-}(\xi) = \begin{cases} -2\breve{\kappa}\,\xi & \text{in case (A)} \\ \breve{\mu}\,\xi^{2} & \text{in case (B).} \end{cases}$$

In order to cover both cases (A) and (B) in a unified way, we will assume more generally that

$$\underline{V}_0^-(\xi) = \gamma |\xi|^{\varkappa}, \quad \xi < 0, \quad \text{with} \quad \gamma > 0, \ \varkappa > 0.$$
(4.13d)

The system (4.13a)–(4.13c) can be solved by a formal series expansion according to the following procedure:

(i) Scale the variable  $\xi$  differently on the left and on the right of the origin, introducing

$$\sigma = \xi/h^{\alpha} \text{ for } \xi < 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \rho = \xi/h^{\alpha'} \text{ for } \xi > 0 \tag{4.14}$$

with  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha' > 0$  chosen in order to homogenize the operators  $-h^2 \underline{\mathscr{L}}_0^- + \underline{V}_0^-$  and  $-h^2 \underline{\mathscr{L}}_0^+ + \underline{V}_0^+$ . We find that  $-h^2 \underline{\mathscr{L}}_0^- + \underline{V}_0^-$  becomes  $-h^{2-2\alpha} \partial_{\sigma}^2 + \gamma h^{\varkappa \alpha} |\sigma|^{\varkappa}$ , and  $-h^2 \underline{\mathscr{L}}_0^+ + \underline{V}_0^+$  becomes  $-h^{2-2\alpha'} \partial_{\rho}^2 + n_0^2 - 1$ , implying to choose

$$\alpha = \frac{2}{2+\varkappa}$$
 and  $\alpha' = 1.$  (4.15)

(ii) Expand the new functions

$$\varphi(\sigma) \coloneqq v(\xi) \text{ for } \xi < 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \psi(\rho) \coloneqq v(\xi) \text{ for } \xi > 0,$$
(4.16)

and  $\underline{\Lambda}$  in series of type  $\sum_{q\in\mathbb{N}} a_q h^{q\beta}$  for some suitable  $\beta > 0$ . The jump condition (4.12b) being transformed into the following matching condition at  $\sigma = \rho = 0$ 

$$\varphi(0) = \psi(0) \quad \text{and} \quad n_0^{p-1} h^{-\alpha} \partial_\sigma \varphi(0) = h^{-\alpha'} \partial_\rho \psi(0),$$
(4.17)

we find that  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha'$ , and  $\alpha' - \alpha$  should be integer multiples of  $\beta$ .

4.2.3. Back to the full Schrödinger modal equation. Now, we take advantage of the choices made in (i)–(ii) to treat the system (4.12a)–(4.12c) in its general form. Hence we know that  $\alpha' = 1$  and leave  $\alpha$  in equations for further determination. By the change of variables (4.14)–(4.15) and the change of functions (4.16), the equation (4.12a) is transformed into the following two equations set on each side of the interface  $\sigma = \rho = 0$ 

$$\begin{cases} h^{2-2\alpha}(-\mathscr{L}_{h}^{-}\varphi+V_{h}^{-}\varphi) &= \tilde{E}\varphi, \quad \sigma \in (-\infty,0) \\ -\mathscr{L}_{h}^{+}\psi+V_{h}^{+}\psi &= \tilde{E}\psi, \quad \rho \in (0,+\infty) \end{cases}$$
(4.18a)

with the matching condition

$$\varphi(0) = \psi(0) \quad \text{and} \quad n_0^{p-1} h^{1-\alpha} \partial_\sigma \varphi(0) = \partial_\rho \psi(0),$$
(4.18b)

the decay condition

$$\varphi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-}) \quad \text{and} \quad \psi \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+}),$$

$$(4.18c)$$

and where the operators  $\mathscr{L}_h^-$  and  $\mathscr{L}_h^+$  are defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}_{h}^{-} &= \frac{n_{0}^{2}}{\tilde{n}(h^{\alpha}\sigma)^{2}}\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + h^{\alpha}n_{0}^{2}\left(\frac{1}{(1+h^{\alpha}\sigma)\,\tilde{n}(h^{\alpha}\sigma)^{2}} + (p-1)\frac{\tilde{n}'(h^{\alpha}\sigma)}{\tilde{n}(h^{\alpha}\sigma)^{3}}\right)\partial_{\sigma}, \\ \mathscr{L}_{h}^{+} &= n_{0}^{2}\left(\partial_{\rho}^{2} + \frac{h}{1+h\rho}\partial_{\rho}\right), \end{aligned}$$
(4.19)

and the potentials  $V_h^-$  and  $V_h^+$  are given by

$$V_{h}^{-}(\sigma) = h^{2\alpha-2} \left( \left( \frac{n_{0}}{(1+h^{\alpha}\sigma)\,\tilde{n}(h^{\alpha}\sigma)} \right)^{2} - 1 \right),$$

$$V_{h}^{+}(\rho) = \frac{n_{0}^{2}}{(1+h\rho)^{2}} - 1.$$
(4.20)

4.2.4. Formal series of operators. The next step is to associate a formal series of operators to the system (4.18a)–(4.18c), using a Taylor expansion at  $\sigma = \rho = 0$  of their coefficients: For any smooth coefficient f, this association reads

$$f(h^{\alpha}\sigma) \sim \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}} h^{\alpha \ell} \ \frac{f^{(\ell)}(0)}{\ell!} \sigma^{\ell} \quad \text{and} \quad f(h\rho) \sim \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}} h^{\ell} \ \frac{f^{(\ell)}(0)}{\ell!} \rho^{\ell}.$$

This defines a formal series of operators in terms of powers of  $h^{\beta}$ 

$$-\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\pm} + V_{h}^{\pm} \sim \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} h^{q\beta} \,\mathbf{A}_{q}^{\pm} \tag{4.21}$$

inviting to look for  $\varphi$ ,  $\psi$ , and  $\widetilde{E}$  in the form of the formal series

$$\varphi(\sigma) = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} h^{q\beta} \varphi_q(\sigma), \quad \psi(\rho) = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} h^{q\beta} \psi_q(\rho), \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{E} = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} h^{q\beta} \widetilde{E}_q. \tag{4.22}$$

Note that in the general framework (4.13d) we have

$$\mathbf{A}_{0}^{-} = -\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \gamma |\sigma|^{\varkappa} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{A}_{0}^{+} = -n_{0}^{2}\partial_{\rho}^{2} + n_{0}^{2} - 1.$$
(4.23)

Finally, since we want to construct quasi-modes with a whispering gallery structure, we give priority in (4.18a) to the equation in  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$ , which means that we look for an expansion of  $\widetilde{E}$  starting as  $h^{2-2\alpha}$ . This motivates the introduction of

$$\lambda = h^{2\alpha - 2} \widetilde{E} \sim \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} h^{q\beta} \lambda_q \,, \tag{4.24}$$

so that equations (4.18a) read

$$\begin{cases} -\mathscr{L}_{h}^{-}\varphi + V_{h}^{-}\varphi = \lambda\varphi, & \sigma \in (-\infty, 0) \\ -\mathscr{L}_{h}^{+}\psi + V_{h}^{+}\psi = h^{2-2\alpha}\lambda\psi, & \rho \in (0, +\infty) \end{cases}$$
(4.25)

still coupled with the matching condition (4.18b) and the decay condition (4.18c).

4.3. **Proof: Specifics in case** (A). In case (A),  $\breve{\kappa}$  is positive and the above general framework applies with the quantities

$$\varkappa = 1, \quad \gamma = 2\breve{\kappa}, \quad \alpha = \frac{2}{3}, \quad \alpha' = 1, \quad \beta = \frac{1}{3}.$$

This case is very close to the "toy model" considered in [9, Sec. III]. From expressions (4.19)–(4.21), we find that the first terms of the operator series  $\mathbf{A}_q^{\pm}$  are as follows

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{A}_{0}^{-} = -\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + 2\breve{\kappa}|\sigma|, \quad \mathbf{A}_{1}^{-} = 0, \quad \mathbf{A}_{2}^{-} = 2\frac{\tilde{n}_{1}}{n_{0}}\sigma\,\partial_{\sigma}^{2} - \left(1 + (p-1)\frac{\tilde{n}_{1}}{n_{0}}\right)\,\partial_{\sigma} + c_{2}^{-}\sigma^{2}, \quad (4.26) \\ \mathbf{A}_{0}^{+} = -\frac{2}{\sigma^{2}}\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \frac{2}{\sigma^{2}}\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \frac{2}{\sigma^{2}}$$

$$\left(\mathbf{A}_{0}^{+}=-n_{0}^{2}\partial_{\rho}^{2}+n_{0}^{2}-1, \quad \mathbf{A}_{1}^{+}=0, \quad \mathbf{A}_{2}^{+}=0, \quad \mathbf{A}_{3}^{+}=-n_{0}^{2}(\partial_{\rho}+2\rho), \quad (4.27)\right)$$

where  $c_2^- = 3 + 4\frac{\tilde{n}_1}{n_0} + 3\frac{\tilde{n}_1^2}{n_0^2} - \frac{\tilde{n}_2}{n_0}$ . For a comprehensive description of the general terms  $\mathbf{A}_q^{\pm}$  we need the introduction of polynomial spaces.

**Notation 4.2.** For  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\mathbb{P}^q$  denote the space of polynomials in one variable with degree  $\leq q$  and  $\mathbb{P}^q_*$  the subspace of  $\mathbb{P}^q$  formed by polynomials P such that P(0) = 0.

A Taylor expansion at  $\sigma = \rho = 0$  of the coefficients of  $\mathscr{L}_h^{\pm}$  and of  $V_h^{\pm}$  allows to prove that

**Lemma 4.B.** For any integer  $q \ge 1$ , there holds

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{A}_{q}^{-} &= A_{q}^{-}(\sigma) \, \partial_{\sigma}^{2} + B_{q}^{-}(\sigma) \, \partial_{\sigma} + C_{q}^{-}(\sigma) \quad \text{with} \ A_{q}^{-} \in \mathbb{P}^{[\frac{q}{2}]}, \ B_{q}^{-} \in \mathbb{P}^{[\frac{q}{2}]-1}, \ C_{q}^{-} \in \mathbb{P}^{[\frac{q}{2}]+1} \\ \mathbf{A}_{q}^{+} &= B_{q}^{+}(\rho) \, \partial_{\rho} + C_{q}^{+}(\rho) \qquad \qquad \text{with} \ B_{q}^{+} \in \mathbb{P}^{[\frac{q}{3}]-1}, \ C_{q}^{+} \in \mathbb{P}^{[\frac{q}{3}]}. \end{split}$$

By the identifications (4.21)–(4.22), the system (4.25) with jump conditions (4.18b) is associated with the formal series system of equations

$$\begin{cases}
\left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{-}\right)\left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\varphi_{\ell}\right) = \left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\lambda_{\ell}\right)\left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\varphi_{\ell}\right) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_{-}\\ \left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{+}\right)\left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\psi_{\ell}\right) = h^{\frac{2}{3}}\left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\lambda_{\ell}\right)\left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\psi_{\ell}\right) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_{+}\\ \left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\varphi_{\ell}\right) = \left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\psi_{\ell}\right) & \text{at } \{0\}\\ n_{0}^{p-1}h^{\frac{1}{3}}\left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\varphi_{\ell}'\right) = \left(\sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}h^{\frac{\ell}{3}}\psi_{\ell}'\right) & \text{at } \{0\}
\end{cases}$$

This system is equivalent to an infinite collection of systems obtained by equating the series coefficients: Namely, for q spanning  $\mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{\ell=0}^{q} \mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{-} \varphi_{q-\ell} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{q} \lambda_{\ell} \varphi_{q-\ell} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_{-} \\ \sum_{\ell=0}^{q} \mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{+} \psi_{q-\ell} = \sum_{\ell=2}^{q} \lambda_{\ell-2} \psi_{q-\ell} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}_{+} \\ \varphi_{q}(0) = \psi_{q}(0) \\ \psi_{q}'(0) = n_{0}^{p-1} \varphi_{q-1}'(0) \end{cases}$$

$$(4.29)$$

where we agree that the right hand side of the second line is 0 when q = 0 or q = 1, and, likewise, the right hand side of the fourth line is 0 when q = 0.

#### 4.3.1. *Initialization stage*. For q = 0, the system (4.29) reads

$$\mathbf{A}_{0}^{-} \varphi_{0} = \lambda_{0} \varphi_{0} \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}_{-}$$
  

$$\mathbf{A}_{0}^{+} \psi_{0} = 0 \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}_{+}$$
  

$$\varphi_{0}(0) = \psi_{0}(0)$$
  

$$\psi_{0}'(0) = 0$$
  
(4.30)

for which we look for solutions  $\varphi_0 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-)$  and  $\psi_0 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ .

Since the equation  $\mathbf{A}_0^+ \psi_0 = 0$  with the Neumann condition at 0 has no non-zero solution in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , it is natural to take  $\psi_0 = 0$  in (4.30). Then we are left with the following Airy eigen-problem on  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$  for  $\varphi_0$ 

$$-\varphi_0''(\sigma) - 2\breve{\kappa}\,\sigma\varphi_0(\sigma) = \lambda_0\varphi_0(\sigma) \text{ for } \sigma \in (-\infty, 0), \qquad \text{and} \qquad \varphi_0(0) = 0$$

whose decaying solutions can be expressed in terms of the mirror Airy function A. Recall that  $a_j$  for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , denote the successive roots of A. We obtain immediately:

**Lemma 4.C.** Let  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . The couple of functions  $(\varphi_0, \psi_0)$  and the number  $\lambda_0$  defined by

$$\varphi_0(\sigma) = \mathsf{A}\big(\mathsf{a}_j + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma\big), \quad \psi_0(\rho) = 0, \quad and \quad \lambda_0 = \mathsf{a}_j(2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{2}{3}}$$

solve (4.30) in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-}) \times \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+})$ .

Remark 4.3. The quasi-mode construction requires a cut-off at infinity at some stage. Such a cut-off will be harmless to the satisfied equations if the functions  $(\varphi_0, \psi_0)$ , and more generally  $(\varphi_a, \psi_a)$ , are exponentially decreasing when  $\sigma \to -\infty$  and  $\rho \to +\infty$ . It is easy to see that any such solution of (4.30) is proportional to one of the solutions given in Lemma 4.C.

4.3.2. Sequence of nested problems and recurrence. Reordering the terms in the system (4.29) of rank q, we can write it in the following form

$$\begin{pmatrix} -\varphi_q''(\sigma) - (2\breve{\kappa}\sigma + \lambda_0)\varphi_q(\sigma) = \lambda_q \,\varphi_0(\sigma) + S_q^{\varphi}(\sigma) & \sigma \in \mathbb{R}_- \\ 2 + y'(\sigma) = (-2\sigma) + (-$$

$$(\mathscr{R}_{q}^{(A)}) \begin{cases} -n_{0}^{2}\psi_{q}''(\rho) + (n_{0}^{2} - 1)\psi_{q}(\rho) = S_{q}^{\psi}(\rho) & \rho \in \mathbb{R}_{+} \quad (4.31b) \\ \varphi_{q}(0) = \psi_{q}(0) & (4.31c) \end{cases}$$

$$\psi'_q(0) = n_0^{p-1} \varphi'_{q-1}(0) \tag{4.31d}$$

with right hand terms  $S_q^{\varphi}$  and  $S_q^{\psi}$  defined as (recall that  $\mathbf{A}_1^+ = 0$ )

$$S_{q}^{\varphi} = -\mathbf{A}_{q}^{-}\varphi_{0} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{q-1} (\lambda_{\ell} - \mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{-})\varphi_{q-\ell} \quad \text{and} \quad S_{q}^{\psi} = \sum_{\ell=2}^{q} (\lambda_{\ell-2} - \mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{+})\psi_{q-\ell}.$$
(4.32)

**Proposition 4.D.** Choose  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and define  $(\varphi_0, \psi_0, \lambda_0)$  according to Lemma 4.C. Then there *exist, for any*  $q \geq 1$ *,* 

- a unique  $\lambda_q \in \mathbb{R}$  unique polynomials  $P_q^{\varphi} \in \mathbb{P}_*^q$ ,  $Q_q^{\varphi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$ , and  $P_q^{\psi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$

such that setting

$$\varphi_{q}(\sigma) = P_{q}^{\varphi}(\sigma)\mathsf{A}\left(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma\right) + Q_{q}^{\varphi}(\sigma)\mathsf{A}'\left(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma\right) \quad \forall \sigma \in \mathbb{R}_{-}$$

$$\psi_{q}(\rho) = P_{q}^{\psi}(\rho)\exp\left(-\rho\sqrt{1-n_{0}^{-2}}\right) \qquad \forall \rho \in \mathbb{R}_{+}$$

$$(4.33)$$

the collection  $(\varphi_0, \ldots, \varphi_q, \psi_0, \ldots, \psi_q, \lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_q)$  solves the sequence of problems  $(\mathscr{R}_{\ell}^{(A)})$ introduced in (4.31) for  $\ell = 0, \ldots, q$ .

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on q. For q = 0, lemma 4.C provides  $\lambda_0$ ,  $\varphi_0$ , and  $\psi_0$  solutions to  $(\mathcal{R}_0^{(A)})$  and we readily obtain the polynomials  $P_0^{\varphi} = 1$ ,  $Q_0^{\varphi} = 0$ , and  $P_0^{\psi} = 0$ . Let  $q \ge 1$  and suppose that  $(\lambda_{\ell})_{0 \le \ell \le q-1}$ ,  $(\varphi_{\ell})_{0 \le \ell \le q-1}$ , and  $(\psi_{\ell})_{0 \le \ell \le q-1}$  are solutions to problems  $(\mathcal{R}_{\ell}^{(A)})$  for  $\ell = 0, \ldots, q-1$ , and satisfy (4.33).

Using the expression (4.32) of  $S_q^{\psi}$  combined with Lemma 4.B, we deduce from the induction assumption that there exists a polynomial  $E_q^{\psi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-2}$  such that

$$S_q^{\psi}(\rho) = E_q^{\psi}(\rho) \exp\left(-\rho\sqrt{1-n_0^{-2}}\right)$$

From Lemma A.1 in Appendix, there exists a unique polynomial  $\widetilde{P}_q^{\psi} \in \mathbb{P}_*^{q-1}$  such that the function  $\widetilde{\psi}$  defined by  $\widetilde{\psi}_q(\rho) = \widetilde{P}_q^{\psi}(\rho) \exp(-\rho \sqrt{1-n_0^{-2}})$  is solution to (4.31b). It follows that the sought function  $\psi_q$  is given by

$$\psi_q(\rho) = \left(a_0 + \widetilde{P}_q^{\psi}(\rho)\right) \exp\left(-\rho\sqrt{1 - n_0^{-2}}\right)$$

where the constant  $a_0$  is determined from Neumann condition (4.31d). This defines the polynomial  $P_q^{\psi}$  as  $a_0 + \tilde{P}_q^{\psi}$  and hence  $P_q^{\psi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$  as desired. Let us now consider equation (4.31a). Using Lemma 4.B combined with the relation

Let us now consider equation (4.31a). Using Lemma 4.B combined with the relation A''(z) = -zA(z), we deduce from the expression (4.32) of  $S_q^{\varphi}$  and the induction assumption that there exist polynomials  $R_q^{\psi} \in \mathbb{P}^q$  and  $T_q^{\varphi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$  such that

$$S_q^{\varphi}(\sigma) = R_q^{\varphi}(\sigma) \mathsf{A}\big(\mathsf{a}_j + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma\big) + T_q^{\varphi}(\sigma) \mathsf{A}'\big(\mathsf{a}_j + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma\big).$$

From Lemma A.2 there exist unique polynomials  $P_q^{\varphi} \in \mathbb{P}_*^q$  and  $\widetilde{Q}_q^{\varphi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$  such that the function given by

$$\widetilde{\varphi}_{q}(\sigma) = P_{q}^{\varphi}(\sigma)\mathsf{A}\left(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma\right) + \widetilde{Q}_{q}^{\varphi}(\sigma)\mathsf{A}'\left(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma\right)$$

is a solution to the ODE (compare it with (4.31a))

$$-\widetilde{\varphi}_q''(\sigma) - (2\breve{\kappa}\sigma + \lambda_0)\widetilde{\varphi}_q(\sigma) = S_q^{\varphi}(\sigma)$$

If we define  $\varphi_q$  as follows:

$$\varphi_q(\sigma) = \frac{\lambda_q}{(2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{2}{3}}} \mathsf{A}' \big( \mathsf{a}_j + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}} \sigma \big) + \widetilde{\varphi}_q(\sigma) \quad \text{with} \quad \lambda_q = \frac{(2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{2}{3}}}{\mathsf{A}'(\mathsf{a}_j)} \left( \psi_q(0) - \widetilde{\varphi}_q(0) \right),$$

then  $\varphi_q$  solves (4.31a) and the continuity condition (4.31c). (Note that we have  $A'(a_j) \neq 0$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , see [28, Sect. 9.9(ii)].) Finally, we set  $Q_q^{\varphi} = \lambda_q (2\breve{\kappa})^{-\frac{2}{3}} + \widetilde{Q}_q^{\varphi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$ .

Calculating for q = 1 in Proposition 4.D provides  $P_1^{\varphi} = 0$  and explicit values for  $Q_1^{\varphi}$ ,  $P_1^{\psi}$  and  $\lambda_1$ , from which we deduce

Lemma 4.E. We have 
$$\lambda_1 = \frac{-n_0^p 2\breve{\kappa}}{\sqrt{n_0^2 - 1}}$$
 and, for  $(\sigma, \rho) \in \mathbb{R}_- \times \mathbb{R}_+$ ,  
 $\varphi_1(\sigma) = -\frac{n_0^p (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}}{\sqrt{n_0^2 - 1}} \mathsf{A}'(\mathsf{a}_j + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma), \quad \psi_1(\rho) = -\frac{n_0^p (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}} \mathsf{A}'(\mathsf{a}_j)}{\sqrt{n_0^2 - 1}} \exp\left(-\rho\sqrt{1 - n_0^{-2}}\right).$ 

*Remark* 4.4. From the proof of Proposition 4.D, we see that, for each chosen j and  $q \ge 1$ , the four operators

$$\{\lambda_0, \dots, \lambda_{q-1}, P_0^{\psi}, \dots, P_{q-1}^{\psi}\} \longmapsto E_q^{\psi}$$
$$\{E_q^{\psi}, P_{q-1}^{\varphi}, Q_{q-1}^{\varphi}\} \longmapsto P_q^{\psi}$$
$$\{\lambda_0, \dots, \lambda_{q-1}, P_0^{\varphi}, \dots, P_{q-1}^{\varphi}, Q_0^{\varphi}, \dots, Q_{q-1}^{\varphi}\} \longmapsto \{R_q^{\varphi}, T_q^{\varphi}\}$$
$$\{R_q^{\varphi}, T_q^{\varphi}, P_q^{\psi}\} \longmapsto \{P_q^{\varphi}, Q_q^{\varphi}, \lambda_q\}$$

act between finite dimensional spaces and can be identified to matrices. They result into an algorithm that can be derived and implemented in a computer algebra system to obtain the expression of  $\lambda_q, \varphi_q, \psi_q$  for  $q \ge 2$ , see [25, Annexe D]. The coefficients of the polynomials  $P_q^{\varphi}, Q_q^{\varphi}, P_q^{\varphi}$  are *rational functions* of the quantities  $(2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}, \sqrt{n_0^2 - 1}, a_j, A'(a_j), n_0^p$ , and  $n_\ell$  for all  $\ell \in \{0, \ldots, q\}$ .

4.3.3. Convergence. Choose  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$  and a natural integer j. In a last stage, we have to prove that the formal series

$$\sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda_q h^{\frac{q}{3}}, \qquad \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \varphi_q h^{\frac{q}{3}}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \psi_q h^{\frac{q}{3}}, \tag{4.34}$$

obtained from Proposition 4.D give rise to a family of resonance quasi-pairs in the sense of Definition 2.1. Note that, by construction, the functions  $\varphi_q$  and  $\psi_q$  are exponentially decreasing at infinity, thus belong to  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-)$  and  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , respectively. Relying on Borel's theorem [20, Thm. 1.2.6] and its variant given in Lemma A.4 in Appendix, we obtain the existence of smooth functions having  $(\lambda_q)_q$ ,  $(\varphi_q)_q$  and  $(\psi_q)_q$  as Taylor terms at 0. Combined with Lemma A.5, this yields the following results for the remainders of truncated series expansions of formal series (4.34).

**Lemma 4.F.** Let  $(\lambda_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$ ,  $(\varphi_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$  and  $(\psi_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$  given by Proposition 4.D. There exist smooth functions  $\underline{\lambda} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1])$ ,  $\Phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-}))$  and  $\Psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))$  such that for all  $(h, \sigma, \rho) \in [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}$  and for all integer  $N \geq 0$ , we have the following finite expansions with remainders

$$\underline{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{3}}) = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} h^{\frac{q}{3}} \lambda_q + h^{\frac{N}{3}} R_N^{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{3}}), \qquad \text{with} \quad R_N^{\lambda} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1])$$
(4.35a)

$$\Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\sigma) = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} h^{\frac{q}{3}} \varphi_q(\sigma) + h^{\frac{N}{3}} R_N^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\sigma), \quad \text{with} \quad R_N^{\varphi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-))$$
(4.35b)

$$\Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\rho) = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} h^{\frac{q}{3}} \psi_q(\rho) + h^{\frac{N}{3}} R_N^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\rho) \quad \text{with} \quad R_N^{\psi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)) \quad (4.35c)$$

Note that the remainders at rank N = 0 simply coincide with the original function.

**Definition 4.5.** Choose a real number  $\delta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$  and a smooth cut-off function  $\chi, 0 \le \chi \le 1$ , such that  $\chi(\xi) = 1$  for  $|\xi| \le \delta$  and  $\chi(\xi) = 0$  for  $|\xi| \ge 2\delta$ . We define for any integer  $m \ge 1$  with the notation  $h = m^{-1}$ , the quantities:

$$\underline{k}(m) = \frac{m}{Rn_0} \sqrt{1 + h^{\frac{2}{3}} \underline{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{3}})},$$
  

$$\underline{v}(m;\xi) = \chi(\xi) \begin{cases} \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; h^{-\frac{2}{3}}\xi), & \xi \leq 0 \\ \Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; h^{-1}\xi), & \xi > 0 \end{cases}$$
  

$$\underline{u}(m;r,\theta) = \underline{v}\left(m; \frac{r}{R} - 1\right) e^{\mathrm{i}m\theta} \qquad (r,\theta) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}.$$

We now show that the sequence  $(\underline{k}(m), \underline{u}(m))_{m \ge 1}$  is a family of "almost" quasi-pairs in the sense of the following lemma. A further correction will have to be made to transform this family into a true family of resonance quasi-pairs in the sense of Definition 2.1.

**Lemma 4.G.** The sequence  $(\underline{k}(m), \underline{u}(m))_{m \ge 1}$  defined above has the following properties:

(i) For all m, the function  $\underline{u}(m)$  is supported in an annulus around the interface r = R

$$\operatorname{supp}(\underline{u}(m)) \subset B(0, R(1+2\delta)) \setminus B(0, R(1-2\delta))$$

(ii) For all m, the function  $\underline{u}(m)$  is piece-wise smooth up to the interface r = R:

$$\underline{u}(m)\big|_{\overline{\Omega}} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}\left(\overline{\Omega}\right) \quad and \quad \underline{u}(m)\big|_{\mathbb{R}^{2}\setminus\Omega} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}\left(\mathbb{R}^{2}\setminus\Omega\right)$$

- (iii) We have the following estimates for the jumps across the interface when  $m \to +\infty$  $[\underline{u}(m)]_{\partial\Omega} = \mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$  and  $[n^{p-1}\partial_{\nu}\underline{u}(m)]_{\partial\Omega} = \mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty}).$
- (iv) Defining the residuals

$$\underline{\varepsilon}(m) \coloneqq \operatorname{div}\left(n^{p-1}\nabla \underline{u}(m)\right) + \underline{k}^{2}(m) n^{p+1} \underline{u}(m)$$
(4.36)

we have the following estimates in  $\Omega$  and  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \overline{\Omega}$  when  $m \to +\infty$ 

$$\frac{\|\underline{\varepsilon}(m)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega)} + \|\underline{\varepsilon}(m)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2}\setminus\overline{\Omega})}}{\|\underline{u}(m)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}} = \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\infty}\right).$$

*Proof.* (i) and (ii) are obvious consequences of the definition of  $\underline{u}(m)$ .

(iii) From Definition 4.5, we have, for all  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ , and with  $h = \frac{1}{m}$ 

$$[\underline{u}(m)]_{\partial\Omega}(\theta) = [\underline{v}(m;\xi)]_{\{\xi=0\}} e^{\mathrm{i}m\theta} = \left(\Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) - \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0)\right) e^{\mathrm{i}m\theta}.$$

Let  $N \ge 1$ . From (4.35b)–(4.35c), we deduce that

$$\Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) - \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} \left( \psi_q(0) - \varphi_q(0) \right) h^{\frac{q}{3}} + h^{\frac{N}{3}} \left( R_N^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) - R_N^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) \right).$$
(4.37)

Since by construction  $\psi_q(0) - \varphi_q(0) = 0$  for any  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , *cf.* (4.31), we deduce from (4.37) that  $\Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; 0) - \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; 0) = \mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{N}{3}})$ . This statement is true for any  $N \ge 1$ , hence  $[\underline{u}(m)]_{\partial\Omega} = \mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$ .

We proceed in a similar way for the second jump condition. We have

$$\left[n^{p-1}\partial_{\nu}\underline{u}(m)\right]_{\partial\Omega}(\theta) = R^{-1}\left[n^{p-1}\partial_{\xi}v(m,\xi)\right]_{\{\xi=0\}} e^{im\theta}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left[ n^{p-1} \partial_{\xi} v(m,\xi) \right]_{\{\xi=0\}} &= h^{-1} \left( \partial_{\rho} \Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) - n_{0}^{p-1} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \partial_{\sigma} \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) \right) \\ &= \sum_{q=1}^{N-1} \left( \psi_{q}'(0) - n_{0}^{p-1} \varphi_{q-1}'(0) \right) h^{\frac{q}{3}-1} \\ &+ h^{\frac{N}{3}-1} \left( -n_{0}^{p-1} \varphi_{N-1}'(0) + \partial_{\rho} R_{N}^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) - n_{0}^{p-1} h^{\frac{1}{3}} \partial_{\sigma} R_{N}^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};0) \right). \end{split}$$

From the jump relation (4.31d)  $\psi'_q(0) - n_0^{p-1} \varphi'_{q-1}(0)$  for any  $q \ge 1$ , we deduce that the above quantity is a  $\mathcal{O}(h^{\frac{N}{3}-1})$  for any  $N \ge 1$ , hence a  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$ .

(iv) In order to prove the estimates on the residuals, it is enough to prove that the L<sup>2</sup> norm of the residual  $\underline{\varepsilon}(m)$  on  $\Omega$  and on  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \overline{\Omega}$  is  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$  and that

$$\|\underline{u}(m)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})} = \gamma \, m^{-\frac{1}{3}} + \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\frac{2}{3}}\right) \tag{4.38}$$

for some positive constant  $\gamma$ . Given a parameter t > 0, we introduce the following weighted  $L^2$  (semi) norm on any interval  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ :

$$\|w\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}[t](I)}^{2} = \int_{I \cap (-2\delta/t,\infty)} |w(\tau)|^{2} t(1+\tau t) \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

Let us first prove (4.38). We readily obtain from Definition 4.5, having set  $L \coloneqq 2\pi R$ ,

$$\|\underline{u}(m)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}^{2} = L\left(\left\|\chi(\cdot h^{\frac{2}{3}})\Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot)\right\|_{L^{2}[h^{\frac{2}{3}}](\mathbb{R}_{-})}^{2} + \left\|\chi(\cdot h)\Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot)\right\|_{L^{2}[h](\mathbb{R}_{+})}^{2}\right).$$
 (4.39)

From (4.35b) and (4.35c) considered with N = 1, we have

$$\begin{split} \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\sigma) &= \mathsf{A}(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma) + h^{\frac{1}{3}}R_{1}^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\sigma) \\ \Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\rho) &= h^{\frac{1}{3}}R_{1}^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\rho) \end{split}$$

where  $R_1^{\varphi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-))$  and  $R_1^{\psi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+))$ . We deduce that

$$\left\|\underline{u}(m)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})} - \sqrt{L} \left\|\chi(\cdot h^{\frac{2}{3}})\mathsf{A}(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\cdot)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}[h^{\frac{2}{3}}](\mathbb{R}_{-})}\right\| \leq C_{1}h^{\frac{1}{3}}(h^{\frac{1}{3}} + h^{\frac{1}{2}}) \leq C_{1}'h^{\frac{2}{3}}$$

for some constants  $C_1$  and  $C'_1$ . We now have to estimate the quantity

$$\left\|\chi(\cdot h^{\frac{2}{3}})\mathsf{A}(\mathsf{a}_{j}+(2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\cdot)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}[h^{\frac{2}{3}}](\mathbb{R}_{-})}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}_{-}}\left|\chi(\sigma h^{\frac{2}{3}})\mathsf{A}(\mathsf{a}_{j}+(2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma)\right|^{2}h^{\frac{2}{3}}(1+\sigma h^{\frac{2}{3}})\,\mathrm{d}\sigma\,.$$

We split the integral according to  $I_1 - I_2 - I_3$  with the three positive integrals

$$I_{1} = h^{\frac{2}{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} \left| \mathsf{A}(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma) \right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$

$$I_{2} = h^{\frac{2}{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} \left( 1 - \chi \left(\sigma h^{\frac{2}{3}}\right)^{2} \right) \left| \mathsf{A}(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma) \right|^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma$$

$$I_{3} = h^{\frac{4}{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} \left| \chi (\sigma h^{\frac{2}{3}}) \mathsf{A}(\mathsf{a}_{j} + (2\breve{\kappa})^{\frac{1}{3}}\sigma) \right|^{2} \, |\sigma| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma.$$

Since a primitive function of  $A^2$  is  $x \mapsto A'(x)^2 + xA(x)^2$ , we find that

$$I_1 = h^{\frac{2}{3}} (2\breve{\kappa})^{-\frac{1}{3}} \mathsf{A}'(\mathsf{a}_j)^2.$$

Moreover, since A is exponentially decreasing over  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$ , we find that  $I_3 \leq C_3 h^{\frac{4}{3}}$ . Finally, Lemma A.6 in Appendix shows that  $I_2 = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$ .

Let us now show that the L<sup>2</sup> norm on  $\Omega$  and on  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \overline{\Omega}$  of the residual  $\underline{\varepsilon}(m)$  defined in (4.36) is  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$ . Revisiting all variable changes and problem reformulations, we find

$$\left\|\underline{\varepsilon}(m)\right\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)} = m^{2}\sqrt{L} \left\|h^{\frac{2}{3}}\left(-\mathscr{L}_{h}^{-} + V_{h}^{-} - \underline{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{3}})\right)\left(\chi(\cdot h^{\frac{2}{3}})\Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot)\right)\right\|_{L^{2}[h^{\frac{2}{3}}](\mathbb{R}_{-})}$$
(4.40a)

$$\left\|\underline{\varepsilon}(m)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2}\setminus\overline{\Omega})} = m^{2}\sqrt{L} \left\|\left(-\mathcal{L}_{h}^{+} + V_{h}^{+} - h^{\frac{2}{3}}\underline{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{3}})\right)\left(\chi(\cdot h)\Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)\right)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}[h](\mathbb{R}_{+})}$$
(4.40b)

Introducing the commutators  $\left[\mathscr{L}_{h}^{-}, \chi(\cdot h^{\frac{2}{3}})\right]$  and  $\left[\mathscr{L}_{h}^{+}, \chi(\cdot h)\right]$  of the differential operators  $\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\pm}$  with scaled cut-off functions, we deduce from (4.40a)–(4.40b) the inequalities

$$\left\|\underline{\varepsilon}(m)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\Omega)} \leq \sqrt{L} \ h^{-\frac{4}{3}}(\mathcal{N}_{\varphi} + \mathcal{N}_{\varphi}') \tag{4.41a}$$

$$\left\|\underline{\varepsilon}(m)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2}\setminus\overline{\Omega})} \leq \sqrt{L} \ h^{-2}(\mathcal{N}_{\psi} + \mathcal{N}_{\psi}') \tag{4.41b}$$

where

$$\mathcal{N}_{\varphi} = \left\| \chi(h^{\frac{2}{3}} \cdot) \left( -\mathcal{L}_{h}^{-} + V_{h}^{-} - \underline{\lambda} \right) \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot) \right\|_{L^{2}[h^{\frac{2}{3}}](\mathbb{R}_{-})}$$
(4.42a)

$$\mathcal{N}_{\varphi}' = \left\| \left[ \mathcal{L}_{h}^{-}, \chi(h^{\frac{2}{3}} \cdot) \right] \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot) \right\|_{L^{2}[h^{\frac{2}{3}}](\mathbb{R}_{-})}$$
(4.42b)

$$\mathcal{N}_{\psi} = \left\| \chi(h \cdot) \left( -\mathcal{L}_{h}^{+} + V_{h}^{+} - h^{\frac{2}{3}} \underline{\lambda} \right) \Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}[h](\mathbb{R}_{+})}$$
(4.42c)

$$\mathcal{N}_{\psi}' = \left\| \left[ \mathcal{L}_{h}^{+}, \chi(h \cdot) \right] \Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}[h](\mathbb{R}_{+})}.$$
(4.42d)

Both operators  $\chi(h^{\frac{2}{3}} \cdot) \left(-\mathscr{L}_{h}^{-} + V_{h}^{-}\right)$  and  $\chi(h \cdot) \left(-\mathscr{L}_{h}^{+} + V_{h}^{+}\right)$  are differential operators in the form  $a_{2}^{\pm}\partial^{2} + a_{1}^{\pm}\partial + a_{0}^{\pm}$  with coefficients  $a_{i}^{\pm}(h^{\frac{1}{3}}, \cdot)$  belonging to  $\mathscr{C}_{\text{bounded}}^{\infty}([0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ , see (4.19)–(4.20). Hence, the formal series (4.21) gives rise to the following sequences of finite expansions with remainders: For any  $N \geq 1$ ,

$$-\mathscr{L}_{h}^{\pm} + V_{h}^{\pm} = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} h^{\frac{q}{3}} \mathbf{A}_{q}^{\pm} + h^{\frac{N}{3}} \mathbf{R}_{N}^{\pm}(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot)$$
(4.43)

where the remainders  $\mathbf{R}_N^{\pm}$  are differential operators of order 2 such that  $\chi(h^{\frac{2}{3}} \cdot)\mathbf{R}_N^-(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot)$  and  $\chi(h \cdot)\mathbf{R}_N^+(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot)$  have coefficients belonging to  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{\text{bounded}}([0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ . It follows that for any given  $N, N' \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\left(-\mathscr{L}_{h}^{-}+V_{h}^{-}-\underline{\lambda}\right)\Phi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)$$

$$= \left(\sum_{q=0}^{N-1}h^{\frac{q}{3}}\left(\mathbf{A}_{q}^{-}-\lambda_{q}\right)+h^{\frac{N}{3}}\left(\mathbf{R}_{N}^{-}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)-R_{N}^{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{3}})\right)\right)\left(\sum_{q=0}^{N'-1}h^{\frac{q}{3}}\varphi_{q}+h^{\frac{N'}{3}}R_{N'}^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)\right)$$

$$= h^{\frac{N}{3}}\left(\sum_{q=0}^{N-1}(\mathbf{A}_{q}^{-}-\lambda_{q})R_{N-q}^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)+\left(\mathbf{R}_{N}^{-}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)-R_{N}^{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{3}})\right)R_{0}^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)\right)$$

$$(4.44)$$

where the second equality is obtained from the relation  $\sum_{\ell=0}^{q} (\mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{-} - \lambda_{\ell}) \varphi_{q-\ell} = 0$  for all  $q \in \mathbb{N}$  deduced from (4.29). In a similar way, we show that

$$\left(-\mathscr{L}_{h}^{+}+V_{h}^{+}-h^{\frac{2}{3}}\underline{\lambda}\right)\Psi(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot) = h^{\frac{N}{3}}\left(\sum_{q=0}^{N-1}(\mathbf{A}_{q}^{+}-\lambda_{q-2})R_{N-q}^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot) + \left(\mathbf{R}_{N}^{+}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)-R_{N-2}^{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{3}})\right)R_{0}^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}};\cdot)\right)$$
(4.45)

where  $\lambda_{-1} = \lambda_{-2} = 0$ . We deduce from from (4.44) and (4.45) that

$$\mathcal{N}_{\varphi} + \mathcal{N}_{\psi} \le h^{\frac{N}{3}} \sum_{q=0}^{N} \left( \left\| F_{q}^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot) \right\|_{L^{2}[h^{\frac{2}{3}}](\mathbb{R}_{-})} + \left\| F_{q}^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot) \right\|_{L^{2}[h](\mathbb{R}_{+})} \right)$$

with  $F_q^{\varphi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-))$  and  $F_q^{\psi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+))$ , and finally that

$$\mathcal{N}_{\varphi} + \mathcal{N}_{\psi} \le C_N h^{\frac{N}{3}} \tag{4.46}$$

for some constant  $C_N$  independent of h.

Let us consider now the two commutators norms  $\mathcal{N}'_{\varphi}$  and  $\mathcal{N}'_{\psi}$ . We observe that the coefficients of the operators  $[\mathscr{L}_h^-, \chi(h^{\frac{2}{3}} \cdot)]$  and  $[\mathscr{L}_h^+, \chi(h \cdot)]$  are zero in the regions defined by  $-\delta h^{-\frac{2}{3}} \leq \sigma \leq 0$  and  $0 \leq \rho \leq \delta h^{-1}$ , respectively. This allows us to deduce that

$$\mathcal{N}_{\varphi}' + \mathcal{N}_{\psi}' \leq \left( \left\| G^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot) \right\|_{L^{2}[h^{\frac{2}{3}}](-\infty, -\delta h^{-\frac{2}{3}})} + \left\| G^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{3}}; \cdot) \right\|_{L^{2}[h](\delta h^{-1}, +\infty)} \right)$$

with functions  $G^{\varphi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-}))$  and  $G^{\psi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))$ . Lemma A.6 shows that  $\mathcal{N}'_{\varphi} + \mathcal{N}'_{\psi} = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$ . Combined with (4.46) true for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , this complete the proof of part (iv) of the Lemma.

4.3.4. Proof of Theorem 4.A. Choose  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$  and  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . In order to meet all the requirements listed in Definition 2.1, we modify the sequence of functions  $(\underline{u}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  constructed in Definition 4.5, so that each such function satisfies the jump conditions in (2.1). To lift the jumps of  $\underline{u}(m)$ , we define the "radial" function

$$v^{*}(m;\xi) = \frac{1}{2}\chi(\xi) \begin{cases} -[\underline{v}(m)]_{\xi=0} - n_{0}^{1-p}\xi [n^{p-1}\partial_{r}\underline{v}(m)]_{\xi=0} & \xi \leq 0\\ [\underline{v}(m)]_{\xi=0} + \xi [n^{p-1}\partial_{\nu}\underline{v}(m)]_{\xi=0} & \xi > 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.47)

where  $\chi$  can be taken as the same cut-off function used in Definition 4.5. We set

$$\underline{u}_{p;j}(m;r,\theta) \coloneqq \left(\underline{v}\left(m;\frac{r}{R}-1\right) - v^*\left(m;\frac{r}{R}-1\right)\right) \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}m\theta}$$

and  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) := \underline{k}(m)$ . Using (4.38), we can normalize the function  $\underline{u}_{p;j}(m)$  in the L<sup>2</sup> norm. Relying on Lemmas 4.F and 4.G it is easy to check that the family  $(\mathfrak{K}_{p;j},\mathfrak{U}_{p;j})$  where  $\mathfrak{K}_{p;j} = (\underline{k}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  and  $\mathfrak{U}_{p;j} = (\underline{u}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  satisfies the four conditions of Definition 2.1.

5. CASE (B) HALF-QUADRATIC POTENTIAL WELL

Our concern is now the case when  $\breve{\kappa} = 0$  and  $\breve{\mu} > 0$ . According to the same plan as before, we start with the complete description of the quasi-pairs that are constructed in the rest of the section. The corresponding statement has to be combined with Theorem 7.D to imply Theorem 1.B. As mentioned earlier, case (A) and case (B) share general concepts in the way the asymptotic expansion of quasi-pairs is obtained. Hence, we do not provide a comprehensive proof of Theorem 5.A but instead highlight the differences with the proof of Theorem 4.A.

#### 5.1. Statements.

**Theorem 5.A.** Choose  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$ . Let Assumptions 1.1 be verified and, using Notation 1.2, assume that  $\breve{\kappa} = 0$  and  $\breve{\mu} > 0$ . Then there exists for each  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , a family of resonance quasi-pairs  $\mathfrak{F}_{p;j} = (\mathfrak{K}_{p;j}, \mathfrak{U}_{p;j})$  of whispering gallery type (cf. Definition 2.1) with  $\mathfrak{K}_{p;j} = (\underline{k}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  and  $\mathfrak{U}_{p;j} = (\underline{u}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$ .

(i) The regularity properties (2.3)–(2.4) with respect to m holds with  $\beta = \frac{1}{2}$ : There exist coefficients  $K_{p;j}^{\ell}$  for any  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , and constants  $C_N$  so that

$$\forall N \in \mathbb{N}, \qquad \left| \frac{\underline{k}_{p;j}(m)}{m} - \sum_{\ell=0}^{N-1} \mathbf{K}_{p;j}^{\ell} \, m^{-\ell/2} \right| \le C_N \, m^{-N/2}.$$
 (5.1)

The coefficients  $K_{p;j}^0$  are all equal to  $(Rn(R))^{-1}$ , the coefficients of degree 1 are zero, and the coefficients of degree 2 are all distinct with j, see (5.3).

(ii) The functions  $\underline{u}_{p;j}(m)$  still have the form (4.2) with radial functions  $\underline{w}_{p;j}(m)$  that have a boundary layer structure around r = R with the different scaled variables  $\sigma$  as r < R and  $\rho$  as r > R:

 $\sigma = m^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \frac{r}{R} - 1 \right)$  if r < R and  $\rho = m \left( \frac{r}{R} - 1 \right)$  if r > R.

There exist smooth functions  $\Phi_{p;j} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-})) : (t,\sigma) \mapsto \Phi_{p;j}(t,\sigma)$  and  $\Psi_{p;j} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+})) : (t,\rho) \mapsto \Psi_{p;j}(t,\rho)$  such that

$$\underline{w}_{p;j}(m;r) = \mathfrak{X}(r) \left( \mathbb{1}_{r < R}(r) \, \Phi_{p;j}(m^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \sigma) + \mathbb{1}_{r > R}(r) \, \Psi_{p;j}(m^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \rho) \right)$$
(5.2)

where  $\mathfrak{X} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ ,  $\mathfrak{X} \equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of R.

The first terms of the expansions of the quasi-resonances  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m)$  in powers of  $m^{-1/2}$  as  $m \to \infty$  are as follows:

$$\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = \frac{m}{Rn_0} \left[ 1 + \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} k_{p;j}^{\ell} \left( \frac{\sqrt{\mu}}{m} \right)^{\frac{\ell}{2}} + \mathcal{O}\left( m^{-2} \right) \right]$$
(5.3)

where  $k_{p;j}^1 = 0$ ,

$$\mathbf{k}_{p;j}^2 = 2j + \frac{3}{2} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{k}_{p;j}^3 = \Psi_{2j+1}^{\text{GH}}{}'(0)^2 \left[ \frac{-n_0^p}{\sqrt{n_0^2 - 1}} + \frac{4j + 3}{9\,\breve{\mu}^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left( 6 + \frac{R^3 n_3}{n_0} - 6\breve{\mu} \right) \right].$$

Here,  $\Psi_{\ell}^{\text{GH}}$  denotes the Gauss-Hermite function of order  $\ell$ , see [1, 27].

The asymptotic expansions of the radial part of the quasi-modes  $\underline{w}_{p;i}(m)$  in (5.2) starts as

$$\underline{w}_{p;j}(m;r) = \mathfrak{X}(r) \left( \mathbf{W}_{p;j}^{0}(m;r) + \left(\frac{1}{m}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathbf{W}_{p;j}^{1}(m;r) \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-1}\right), \quad (5.4)$$

where, using the scaled variables  $\sigma = m^{\frac{1}{2}}(\frac{r}{R}-1)$  and  $\rho = m(\frac{r}{R}-1)$ , we have

$$W_{p;j}^{0}(m;r) = \begin{cases} \Psi_{2j+1}^{GH} (\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}}\sigma) & \text{if } r < R, \\ 0 & \text{if } r \ge R, \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

and

$$\mathbf{W}_{p;j}^{1}(m;r) = \frac{-n_{0}^{p} \breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}} (\Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}})'(0)}{\sqrt{n_{0}^{2}-1}} \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\Psi_{0}^{\mathsf{GH}}(0)} \Psi_{0}^{\mathsf{GH}} (\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}}\sigma) + \widetilde{\varphi}_{1}(\sigma) & \text{if } r < R, \\ \exp\left(-\frac{\sqrt{n_{0}^{2}-1}}{n_{0}}\rho\right) & \text{if } r \geq R, \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

where  $\tilde{\varphi}_1 \in H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_-) \cap \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-)$  is the unique solution to a Dirichlet problem posed on  $\mathbb{R}_-$ , see (5.12). In contrast with case (A), the expression of  $W^1_{p;j}$ , though determined, is not explicit. This is the reason why we gave only two terms in the asymptotic expansions (5.3). *Remark* 5.1. When  $m \to \infty$  and j stays bounded, the joint quasi-spectrum  $(m, \underline{k}_{p;j}(m))$ tends to the rectangular lattice

$$(m,j) \longmapsto \left(m, \frac{1}{Rn_0}\left(m + (2j + \frac{3}{2})\sqrt{\breve{\mu}}\right)\right).$$

Indeed, the gaps between two resonances with consecutive indices satisfy

$$\underline{k}_{p;j}(m+1) - \underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = \frac{1}{Rn_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\frac{3}{2}}\right)$$
$$\underline{k}_{p;j+1}(m) - \underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = \frac{2\sqrt{\mu}}{Rn_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right).$$

5.2. **Proof.** The general outline of the proof of Theorem 5.A is similar to the one of Theorem 4.A in case (A). In particular, the general framework of section 4.2 applies with

$$\kappa = 2, \quad \gamma = \breve{\mu}, \quad \alpha = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \alpha' = 1, \quad \beta = \frac{1}{2}.$$

We provide now the part of the proof of Theorem 5.A specific to case (B).

From general expressions (4.19)–(4.21), we find that

$$\mathbf{A}_{0}^{-} = -\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \breve{\mu}\sigma^{2}, \quad \mathbf{A}_{1}^{-} = -2\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + (p-2)\partial_{\sigma} - \sigma^{3}\left(\frac{\tilde{n}_{2}}{n_{0}} + \frac{\tilde{n}_{3}}{3n_{0}}\right), \tag{5.7}$$

$$\mathbf{A}_{0}^{+} = -n_{0}^{2}\partial_{\rho}^{2} + n_{0}^{2} - 1, \quad \mathbf{A}_{1}^{+} = 0, \quad \mathbf{A}_{2}^{+} = -n_{0}^{2}(\partial_{\rho} + 2\rho).$$
(5.8)

The analog of Lemma 4.B describing the coefficients of the formal series of operator (4.21) in terms of powers of  $h^{\beta} = h^{\frac{1}{2}}$  reads as follows.

**Lemma 5.B.** For any integer  $q \ge 1$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{A}_{q}^{-} &= A_{q}^{-}(\sigma) \,\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + B_{q}^{-}(\sigma) \,\partial_{\sigma} + C_{q}^{-}(\sigma) & \text{ with } A_{q}^{-} \in \mathbb{P}^{q}, \ B_{q}^{-} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}, \ C_{q}^{-} \in \mathbb{P}^{q+1} \\ \mathbf{A}_{q}^{+} &= B_{q}^{+}(\rho) \,\partial_{\rho} + C_{q}^{+}(\rho) & \text{ with } B_{q}^{+} \in \mathbb{P}^{\left[\frac{q}{2}\right]-1}, \ C_{q}^{+} \in \mathbb{P}^{\left[\frac{q}{2}\right]}. \end{aligned}$$

We proceed as in Section 4.3, associating to the system (4.25) a formal series system of equations like (4.28), in which the powers of h are modified according to the values of  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha'$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\varkappa$ . As a matter of fact, equating the series coefficients, we obtain in case (B) exactly the same infinite collection of systems (4.29) as in case (A), but with the new expressions of operators  $\mathbf{A}_q^{\pm}$ . The coefficients of the formal series expansions (4.22) are obtained by solving (4.29) for q spanning  $\mathbb{N}$ .

5.2.1. *Initialization stage.* For q = 0, the couple of functions  $(\varphi_0, \psi_0)$  and the number  $\lambda_0$  are obtained by solving (4.30) with  $\mathbf{A}_0^-$  and  $\mathbf{A}_0^+$  given in (5.7)–(5.8). Since the equation  $\mathbf{A}_0^+ \psi_0 = 0$  with the Neumann condition at 0 has no non-zero solution in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , it is natural to take  $\psi_0 = 0$ . Then, we are left with the following harmonic oscillator problem on  $\mathbb{R}_-$ 

$$-\varphi_0''(\sigma) - \breve{\mu} \, \sigma^2 \varphi_0(\sigma) = \lambda_0 \varphi_0(\sigma) \text{ for } \sigma \in (-\infty, 0), \quad \text{and} \quad \varphi_0(0) = 0$$

whose bounded solutions are generated by the odd Gauss-Hermite functions  $\{\Psi_{2j+1}^{GH}\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ .

**Lemma 5.C.** Let  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . The couple of functions  $(\varphi_0, \psi_0)$  and the number  $\lambda_0$  defined by

$$\varphi_0(\sigma) = \Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}} \left( \breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}} \sigma \right), \quad \psi_0(\rho) = 0, \quad and \quad \lambda_0 = (4j+3)\sqrt{\breve{\mu}}$$

solve (4.30) for  $\mathbf{A}_0^-$  and  $\mathbf{A}_0^+$  given in (5.7)–(5.8).

5.2.2. Sequence of nested problems and recurrence. As in case (A), reordering the terms in the system (4.29) taking into account Lemma 5.B, we obtain that the couple of functions  $(\varphi_q, \psi_q)$  and the number  $\lambda_q$  for  $q \ge 1$  are solutions to

$$\int -\varphi_q''(\sigma) + (\breve{\mu}\sigma^2 - \lambda_0)\varphi_q(\sigma) = \lambda_q \,\varphi_0(\sigma) + S_q^{\varphi}(\sigma) \qquad \sigma \in \mathbb{R}_-$$
(5.9a)

$$(\mathscr{R}_{q}^{(B)}) \begin{cases} -n_{0}^{2}\psi_{q}''(\rho) + (n_{0}^{2} - 1)\psi_{q}(\rho) = S_{q}^{\psi}(\rho) & \rho \in \mathbb{R}_{+} \\ \varphi_{q}(0) = \psi_{q}(0) & (5.9c) \end{cases}$$

$$\psi_q'(0) = n_0^{p-1} \varphi_{q-1}'(0) \tag{5.9d}$$

with right hand side terms  $S_q^{\varphi}$  and  $S_q^{\psi}$  defined as (recall that  $\mathbf{A}_1^+=0)$ 

$$S_{q}^{\varphi} = -\mathbf{A}_{q}^{-}\varphi_{0} + \sum_{\ell=1}^{q-1} (\lambda_{\ell} - \mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{-})\varphi_{q-\ell} \quad \text{and} \quad S_{q}^{\psi} = \sum_{\ell=2}^{q} (\lambda_{\ell-2} - \mathbf{A}_{\ell}^{+})\psi_{q-\ell}.$$
(5.10)

Notation 5.2. For a real number t let  $\omega_t : \sigma \mapsto \exp(2^t |\sigma|)$ . We denote by  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_t)$  and  $H^{\ell}(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_t)$ , the weighted Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces with measure  $\omega_t(\sigma) d\sigma$ .

**Proposition 5.D.** Choose  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and take  $\varphi_0, \psi_0, \lambda_0$  as given in Lemma 5.C. For any  $q \ge 1$ , there exist

- a unique  $\lambda_q \in \mathbb{R}$
- a unique real number  $c_q$ , a unique real sequence  $m \in \mathbb{N} \mapsto b_q^i$  such that  $b_q^j = 0$ , and a unique polynomial  $P_q^{\psi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$

such that setting

$$\varphi_{q}(\sigma) = c_{q}\Psi_{0}^{\mathsf{GH}}\left(\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}}\sigma\right) + \widetilde{\varphi}_{q}(\sigma) \quad \text{with} \quad \widetilde{\varphi}_{q}(\sigma) = \sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}} b_{q}^{i}\Psi_{2i+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}\left(\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}}\sigma\right) \quad \forall\sigma\in\mathbb{R}_{-}$$

$$\psi_{q}(\rho) = P_{q}^{\psi}(\rho)\exp\left(-\rho\sqrt{1-n_{0}^{-2}}\right) \qquad \qquad \forall\rho\in\mathbb{R}_{+}$$
(5.11)

the collection  $(\varphi_0, \ldots, \varphi_q, \psi_0, \ldots, \psi_q, \lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_q)$  solves the sequence of problems  $(\mathcal{R}_{\ell}^{(B)})$ for  $\ell = 0, \ldots, q$ . Moreover  $\widetilde{\varphi}_q \in \mathrm{H}^1_0(\mathbb{R}_-) \cap \mathrm{H}^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_{-q})$ 

*Proof.* The proof is quite similar to the one of Proposition 4.D and we will focus on the main differences. We proceed by induction on q. For q = 0, Lemma 5.C provides  $\lambda_0$ ,  $\varphi_0$ , and  $\psi_0$  solutions to  $(\mathcal{R}_0^{(B)})$  and we readily obtain  $c_0 = 0$ ,  $\tilde{\varphi}_0 = \Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}(\check{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}} \cdot) \in \mathrm{H}_0^1(\mathbb{R}_-)$ , and  $P_0 = 0$ . Moreover,  $\varphi_0$  belongs to  $\mathrm{H}^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_0)$  because  $\Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}$  is defined as the product of the (2j+1)-th order Hermite polynomial of degree 2j+1 by  $x \mapsto \exp(-\frac{x^2}{2})$ .

Let  $q \geq 1$  and suppose that  $(\lambda_{\ell})_{0 \leq \ell \leq q-1}$ ,  $(\varphi_{\ell})_{0 \leq \ell \leq q-1}$ , and  $(\psi_{\ell})_{0 \leq \ell \leq q-1}$  are solutions to problems  $(\mathscr{R}_{\ell}^{(B)})$  for  $\ell = 0, \ldots, q-1$ , and satisfy (5.11). Solving equation (5.9b) for  $\psi_q$ proceed in a way very similar to (4.31b) in the proof of Proposition 4.D to show that there exists  $P_q^{\psi} \in \mathbb{P}^{q-1}$  such that

$$\psi_q(\rho) = P_q^{\psi}(\rho) \exp\left(-\rho \sqrt{1 - n_0^{-2}}\right).$$

Let us now consider equation (5.9b) for  $\varphi_q$ . First of all, we obtain by induction that  $\varphi_{\ell} \in \mathrm{H}^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{-}, \omega_{1-q})$  for all  $\ell \in \{0, \ldots, q-1\}$ . Then, using Lemma 5.B and (5.10), it follows that  $S_q^{\varphi} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_{1/2-q})$ . Note that the value of the constant q-1 in the exponential weight is reduced by  $\frac{1}{2}$  to  $\frac{1}{2} - q$  in order to absorb the polynomials behavior. To solve equation (5.9a) with the non-homogeneous boundary condition (5.9c) we introduce as new unknown  $\widetilde{\varphi}_q = \varphi_q - c_q \Psi_0^{\text{GH}}(\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}} \cdot)$  where  $c_q = \frac{\psi_q(0)}{\Psi_0^{\text{GH}}(0)}$ . It belongs to  $\mathrm{H}^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_{1-q})$  and the Dirichlet problem (5.9a), (5.9c) becomes

$$\begin{cases} -\widetilde{\varphi}_{q}^{\prime\prime} + (\breve{\mu}\sigma^{2} - \lambda_{0})\widetilde{\varphi}_{q} = \lambda_{q}\Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}(\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}}\cdot) + \widetilde{S}_{q}^{\varphi} \quad \forall \sigma \in (-\infty, 0) \\ \widetilde{\varphi}_{q}(0) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.12a)  
(5.12b)

$$\widetilde{\varphi}_q(0) = 0 \tag{5.12b}$$

where  $\widetilde{S}_q^{\varphi} = S_q^{\varphi} + 2(2j+1)\sqrt{\breve{\mu}} c_q \Psi_0^{\text{GH}}(\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}})$ . Problem (5.12) has a solution only when the left hand side function  $\lambda_q \Psi_{2j+1}^{\text{GH}}(\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}}\cdot) + \widetilde{S}_q^{\varphi}$  is orthogonal to  $\Psi_{2j+1}^{\text{GH}}(\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}}\cdot)$ . It follows that we must have

$$\lambda_q = -2\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}} \int_{-\infty}^0 \Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}(\breve{\mu}^{\frac{1}{4}}\sigma) \,\widetilde{S}_q^{\varphi}(\sigma) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma.$$
(5.13)

Finally, from Lemma A.3, there exists a unique  $\widetilde{\varphi}_q$  in  $\mathrm{H}^1_0(\mathbb{R}_-) \cap \mathrm{H}^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_{-q})$  and orthogonal to  $\Psi_{2j+1}^{\text{GH}}$  solution to (5.12). The formula giving  $\widetilde{\varphi}_q$  is

$$\widetilde{\varphi}_{q} = \sum_{i=0, i \neq j}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{4(i-j)} \left( \widetilde{S}_{q}^{\varphi}, \varsigma_{i} \Psi_{2i+1}^{\mathsf{GH}} \right)_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{-})} \varsigma_{i} \Psi_{2i+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}$$
(5.14)

where 
$$\varsigma_i = \|\Psi_{2i+1}^{GH}\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_-)}^{-1}$$
.

*Remark* 5.3. In contrast to case (A), we cannot deduce from Proposition 5.D a finite algorithm to compute the terms of the sequence  $(\varphi_q)_{q\in\mathbb{N}}$ . The reason is that for  $q\geq 1$ , the sum of the series (5.14) cannot be computed explicitly. However, a few terms are explicit: We know  $(\psi_0, \varphi_0, \lambda_0)$  so we can compute, first  $P_1^{\psi}$ , then  $c_1$ , and, after this,  $S_1^{\varphi}$ . With these latter quantities, we can deduce an explicit expression of  $\widetilde{S}_1^{\varphi}$  as a finite sum of polynomials times Gauss-Hermite functions. Now, from the definition of the Gauss-Hermite functions [17, eq. 1.3.8] and recurrence relations on Hermite polynomials [28, Sect. 18.9(i)], we deduce the following recurrence relations for  $i \ge 0$  and  $z \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\partial_z \Psi_i^{\mathsf{GH}}(z) = \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Psi_{i-1}^{\mathsf{GH}}(z) - \left(\frac{i+1}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Psi_{i+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}(z), \tag{5.15a}$$

$$z\Psi_{i}^{\text{GH}}(z) = \left(\frac{i}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Psi_{i-1}^{\text{GH}}(z) + \left(\frac{i+1}{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Psi_{i+1}^{\text{GH}}(z).$$
(5.15b)

Hence we can rewrite  $\widetilde{S}_1^{\varphi}$  as a finite sum of Gauss-Hermite functions and with this we can compute explicitly  $\lambda_1$  given by (5.13). Nevertheless  $\widetilde{\varphi}_1$  will be an infinite sum of Gauss-Hermite functions so, for  $q \ge 2$ ,  $\lambda_q$  does not have a closed form.

**Lemma 5.E.** For all  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $\varphi_q \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-)$  and  $\psi_q \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ .

*Proof.* From the expression (5.11) of  $\psi_q$ , it is obvious that it belongs to  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ .

From Proposition 5.D, we know that  $\varphi_q$  and its derivatives of order  $\leq 2$  are exponentially decaying as  $\sigma \to \infty$ . Concerning higher order derivatives  $\varphi_q^{(i)}$ , from the identity  $\varphi_q'' = (\breve{\mu}\sigma^2 - \lambda_0)\varphi_q - \lambda_0\varphi_0 - S_q^{\varphi}$  deduced from (5.9a), from (5.10) and Lemma 5.B, we find that there exist families of polynomials  $P_{q,i}^{\ell}, Q_{q,i}^{\ell}$  such that

$$\varphi_{q}^{(i)} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{q} \left( P_{q,i}^{\ell} \,\varphi_{\ell} + Q_{q,i}^{\ell} \,\varphi_{\ell}' \right). \tag{5.16}$$

Hence  $\varphi_q^{(i)}$  is exponentially decaying too, and we have proved that  $\varphi_q$  belongs to  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-)$ .  $\Box$ 5.2.3. *Convergence*. The proof that the formal series

$$\sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda_q h^{\frac{q}{2}}, \qquad \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \varphi_q h^{\frac{q}{2}}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \psi_q h^{\frac{q}{2}}, \tag{5.17}$$

obtained from Proposition 5.D give rise to a family of resonance quasi-pairs in the sense of Definition 2.1 can be achieved exactly as in Section 4.3.3 for case (A). Namely, Lemma 4.F and Definition 4.5 are respectively replaced by the following Lemma 5.F and Definition 5.4.

**Lemma 5.F.** Let  $(\lambda_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$ ,  $(\varphi_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$  and  $(\psi_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$  given by Proposition 5.D. There exist smooth functions  $\underline{\lambda} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1])$ ,  $\Phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{-}))$  and  $\Psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{+}))$  such that for all  $(h, \sigma, \rho) \in [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}_{-} \times \mathbb{R}_{+}$  and for all integer  $N \geq 0$ , we have the following finite expansions with remainders

$$\underline{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{2}}) = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} h^{\frac{q}{2}} \lambda_q + h^{\frac{N}{2}} R_N^{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{2}}), \qquad \text{with} \quad R_N^{\lambda} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1])$$
(5.18a)

$$\Phi(h^{\frac{1}{2}};\sigma) = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} h^{\frac{q}{2}} \varphi_q(\sigma) + h^{\frac{N}{2}} R_N^{\varphi}(h^{\frac{1}{2}};\sigma), \quad \text{with} \quad R_N^{\varphi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_-))$$
(5.18b)

$$\Psi(h^{\frac{1}{2}};\rho) = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} h^{\frac{q}{2}} \psi_q(\rho) + h^{\frac{N}{2}} R_N^{\psi}(h^{\frac{1}{2}};\rho) \quad \text{with} \quad R_N^{\psi} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_+)) \quad (5.18c)$$

**Definition 5.4.** Choose a real number  $\delta \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$  and a smooth cut-off function  $\chi, 0 \le \chi \le 1$ , such that  $\chi(\xi) = 1$  for  $|\xi| \le \delta$  and  $\chi(\xi) = 0$  for  $|\xi| \ge 2\delta$ . We define for any integer  $m \ge 1$  with the notation  $h = m^{-1}$ , the quantities:

$$\underline{k}(m) = \frac{m}{Rn_0} \sqrt{1 + h \underline{\lambda}(h^{\frac{1}{2}})},$$
  

$$\underline{v}(m;\xi) = \chi(\xi) \begin{cases} \Phi(h^{\frac{1}{2}};h^{-1}\xi), & \xi \leq 0\\ \Psi(h^{\frac{1}{2}};h^{-1}\xi), & \xi > 0 \end{cases} \qquad \qquad \xi \in (-1,+\infty)$$
  

$$\underline{u}(m;r,\theta) = \underline{v}\left(m;\frac{r}{R}-1\right) e^{im\theta} \qquad \qquad (r,\theta) \in (0,+\infty) \times \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}.$$

One can show that the sequence  $(\underline{k}(m), \underline{u}(m))_{m \ge 1}$  is a family of "almost" quasi-pairs in the sense of Lemma 4.G. The main difference with case (A) in proving Lemma 4.G for the sequence  $(\underline{k}(m), \underline{u}(m))_{m \ge 1}$  introduced in Definition 5.4 is that we do not have anymore an explicit expression for  $\varphi_q$  but this does not prevent to obtain the same estimates as in case (A). We refer to [25] for details.

5.2.4. *Proof of Theorem 5.A.* A further correction will have to be made to transform the sequence of functions  $(\underline{u}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  constructed in Definition 5.4 into a true family of resonance quasi-modes in the sense of Definition 2.1. We set

$$\underline{u}_{p;j}(m;r,\theta) \coloneqq \left(\underline{v}\left(m;\frac{r}{R}-1\right) - v^*\left(m;\frac{r}{R}-1\right)\right) \,\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}m\theta}$$

where  $v^*$  is defined as in (4.47) and  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) \coloneqq \underline{k}(m)$ . Relying on Lemmas 5.F and the analogous of 4.G for case (B), one can check that the family  $(\mathfrak{K}_{p;j},\mathfrak{U}_{p;j})$  where  $\mathfrak{K}_{p;j} = (\underline{k}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  and  $\mathfrak{U}_{p;j} = (\underline{u}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  satisfies the four conditions of Definition 2.1.

# 6. CASE (C) QUADRATIC POTENTIAL WELL

We are now under Assumption (3.8). We recall that case (C) corresponds to a situation where  $\breve{\kappa} < 0$  and the potential W has no local minimum at R but has at least one local inner minimum  $R_0$  over (0, R). Here, we construct explicit families of resonance quasi-pairs  $\mathfrak{F}_{p;j}$ localized around the circle  $r = R_0$  inside the cavity  $\Omega$ . Note that strictly speaking, these families of resonance quasi-pairs are not of whispering gallery type.

### 6.1. Statements.

**Theorem 6.A.** Choose  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$ . Let Assumptions 1.1 be satisfied and assume  $\breve{\kappa} < 0$ . Let  $R_0 \in (0, R)$  such that  $1 + \frac{R_0 n'(R_0)}{n(R_0)} = 0$  and  $\breve{\mu}_0 \coloneqq 2 - \frac{R_0^2 n''(R_0)}{n(R_0)} > 0$ , cf. (1.18). Then, for each  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a family of resonance quasi-pairs  $\mathfrak{F}_{p;j} = (\mathfrak{K}_{p;j}, \mathfrak{U}_{p;j})$  with  $\mathfrak{K}_{p;j} = (\underline{k}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$  and  $\mathfrak{U}_{p;j} = (\underline{u}_{p;j}(m))_{m\geq 1}$ .

(i) The regularity property (2.3)–(2.4) with respect to m holds with  $\beta = \frac{1}{2}$ , see (5.1). The coefficients  $K_{p;j}^0$  are all equal to  $(R_0 n(R_0))^{-1}$ , the coefficients of degree 1 are zero, and the coefficients of degree 2 are all distinct with j, see (6.2).

(ii) The functions  $\underline{u}_{p;j}(m)$  still have the form (4.2) with radial functions  $\underline{w}_{p;j}(m)$  that are smooth in the scaled variables  $\sigma = m^{\frac{1}{2}}(r/R_0 - 1)$ . There exists a smooth function  $\Phi_{p;j} \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R})) : (t,\sigma) \mapsto \Phi_{p;j}(t,\sigma)$  such that

$$\underline{w}_{p;j}(m;r) = \mathfrak{X}(r) \Phi_{p;j}(m^{-\frac{1}{2}},\sigma)$$
(6.1)

where  $\mathfrak{X} \in \mathscr{C}_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ ,  $\mathfrak{X} \equiv 1$  in a neighborhood of  $R_0$ .

These families of resonance quasi-pairs are *not* of whispering gallery type: The quasimodes are strictly localized inside the cavity. The asymptotic expansion of  $\underline{k}_{p;j}$  starts as:

$$\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = \frac{m}{R_0 n(R_0)} \left[ 1 + \sum_{\ell'=1}^2 k_{p;j}^{2\ell'} \left( \frac{\sqrt{\mu_0}}{m} \right)^{\ell'} + \mathcal{O}\left( m^{-\frac{5}{2}} \right) \right]$$
(6.2)

with  $\mathbf{k}_{p;j}^2=j+\frac{1}{2}$  and

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{k}_{p;j}^4 &= \frac{1}{64} \bigg[ 13 - 16p + \frac{8p^2 - 16p - 5}{\breve{\mu}_0} - \frac{2\eta_3 - 3\eta_4}{3\breve{\mu}_0^2} - \frac{7\eta_3^2}{9\breve{\mu}_0^3} \\ &+ (2j+1)^2 \left( 5 - \frac{35}{\breve{\mu}_0} + \frac{10\eta_3 + \eta_4}{\breve{\mu}_0^2} - \frac{5\eta_3^2}{3\breve{\mu}_0^3} \right) \bigg] \end{split}$$

where

$$\eta_3 = 6 + rac{R_0^3 n^{(3)}(R_0)}{n(R_0)} \quad ext{and} \quad \eta_4 = 24 - rac{R_0^4 n^{(4)}(R_0)}{n(R_0)}.$$

Note that the coefficients of odd order  $k_{p;j}^1$  and  $k_{p;j}^3$  are zero.

The asymptotic expansion of the quasi-modes starts with

$$\underline{u}_{p;j}(\pm m; x, y) = \mathfrak{X}(r)\Psi_j^{\mathsf{GH}}\left(\breve{\mu}_0^{\frac{1}{4}}m^{\frac{1}{2}}\left(\frac{r}{R_0}-1\right)\right) \mathrm{e}^{\pm \mathrm{i}m\theta} + \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right).$$
(6.3)

*Remark* 6.1. As in case (B), the quasi-resonances tend to a rectangular lattice and the gaps between two resonances with consecutive indices satisfy

$$\underline{k}_{p;j}(m+1) - \underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = \frac{1}{R_0 n(R_0)} + \mathcal{O}(m^{-2}),$$
$$\underline{k}_{p;j+1}(m) - \underline{k}_{p;j}(m) = \frac{\sqrt{\breve{\mu}_0}}{R_0 n(R_0)} + \mathcal{O}(m^{-1}).$$

6.2. **Proof.** The proof of Theorem 6.A can be seen as a simpler version of the proof of Theorem 5.A since the driving operator  $\mathbf{A}_0^- = -\partial_{\sigma}^2 + \mu_0 \sigma^2$  of the asymptotic expansion is the same quadratic oscillator on both side of the potential well location  $R_0$ , *i.e.*  $\mathbf{A}_0^+ = \mathbf{A}_0^-$ . Therefore, we will not detail the entire proof of Theorem 6.A but we will focus on an interesting byproduct of our approach compared to the results of [18], viz a finite algorithm for computing the terms of the asymptotic expansion of the resonance quasi-pairs.

In the framework of the Schrödinger analogy introduced in Section 3, we start this time by introducing the dimensionless variable  $\xi = \frac{r}{R_0} - 1$  (instead of  $\xi = \frac{r}{R} - 1$  as in the two previous cases) and the unknown v such that  $v(\xi) = w(R_0(1+\xi))$ . This leads to the same equation (4.12a) where  $\tilde{E} = R_0^2 \tilde{n}(0)^2 (E - W_0)$  with  $\tilde{n}(\xi) = n(R_0(1+\xi))$ . Compared to the general framework introduced in Section 4.2 for cases (A) and (B), the potential V is smooth at its local minimum at  $\xi = 0$ . As a consequence, it is not anymore necessary to introduce a different scaling on both side of  $\xi = 0$ . Moreover, it is still possible to take advantage of the framework of Section 4.2, but taking into account the fact the variable  $\sigma = h^{-\alpha} \xi$  must be considered over  $\mathbb{R}$  and not only over  $\mathbb{R}_-$ . This framework applies with the same relevant quantities as in case (B) (the ones affecting  $\mathcal{L}$  on  $\mathbb{R}_-$ ). Denoting by  $\varphi$  the new unknown such that  $\varphi(\sigma) = v(\xi)$ , equation (4.12a) becomes  $-\mathcal{L}_h \varphi + V_h \varphi = \lambda \varphi, \sigma \in \mathbb{R}$ , where the operator  $\mathcal{L}_h$  and the potentials  $V_h$  have the same expressions than  $\mathcal{L}_h^-$  in (4.19) and  $V_h^-$  in (4.20) with  $\tilde{n}(\xi) = n(R_0(1+\xi))$ . The decay condition is  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$ .

We define a formal series of operators in terms of powers of  $h^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , similarly to (4.21), as  $-\mathscr{L}_h + V_h \sim \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} h^{\frac{q}{2}} \mathbf{A}_q$  and we look for a function  $\varphi$  and a scalar  $\lambda$  in the form of the formal series  $\varphi = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} h^{\frac{q}{2}} \varphi_q$  and  $\lambda = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} h^{\frac{q}{2}} \lambda_q$ . One can show that the coefficients  $\mathbf{A}_q$ ,  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , satisfy Lemma 5.B (the statement on  $\mathbf{A}_q^-$ ). Then, by the same arguments as in cases (A) and (B) that can equally apply here, we obtain that  $(\varphi_0, \lambda_0)$  is solutions to the full harmonic oscillator equation (in opposition to the half harmonic oscillator of case (B))

$$-\varphi_0''(\sigma) + \check{\mu}_0 \,\sigma^2 \varphi_0(\sigma) = \lambda_0 \varphi_0, \qquad \sigma \in \mathbb{R}, \qquad \varphi_0 \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}), \tag{6.4}$$

and that for  $q \ge 1$ ,  $(\varphi_q, \lambda_q)$  are solutions to the sequence of problems

$$(\mathscr{R}_{q}^{(\mathrm{C})}) \quad \begin{cases} -\varphi_{q}''(\sigma) + (\check{\mu}_{0}\sigma^{2} - \lambda_{0})\varphi_{q}(\sigma) = \lambda_{q}\,\varphi_{0}(\sigma) + S_{q}^{\varphi}(\sigma) & \sigma \in \mathbb{R} \\ \varphi_{q} \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}) & (6.5b) \end{cases}$$

with the right hand side term  $S_q^{\varphi}$  defined as  $S_q^{\varphi} = -\mathbf{A}_q \varphi_0 + \sum_{\ell=1}^{q-1} (\lambda_\ell - \mathbf{A}_\ell) \varphi_{q-\ell}$ . Solutions to the full harmonic oscillator equation (6.4) are

$$\varphi_0(\sigma) = \Psi_j^{\mathsf{GH}} \left( \breve{\mu}_0^{\frac{1}{4}} \sigma \right) \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_0 = (2j+1)\sqrt{\breve{\mu}_0} \quad (j \in \mathbb{N}).$$
(6.6)

For  $q \ge 1$ , the features of the solution  $(\varphi_q, \lambda_q)$  to problem  $(\mathscr{R}_q^{(C)})$  are detailed in the following proposition. Its proof below also provides an algorithm to compute  $\varphi_q$  and  $\lambda_q$ .

**Proposition 6.B.** Let  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and let  $(\varphi_0, \lambda_0)$  given by (6.6). Then there exist, for any  $q \ge 1$ , a unique  $\lambda_q \in \mathbb{R}$  and a unique  $(b_q^i)_{i \in \{0, \dots, j+3q\}} \in \mathbb{R}^{j+3q+1}$  with  $b_q^j = 0$  such that by setting

$$\varphi_q(\sigma) = \sum_{i=0}^{j+3q} b_q^i \Psi_i^{\mathsf{GH}} \left( \breve{\mu}_0^{\frac{1}{4}} \sigma \right), \quad \forall \sigma \in \mathbb{R},$$
(6.7)

the collection  $(\varphi_0, \ldots, \varphi_q, \lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_q)$  solves the sequence of problems  $(\mathscr{R}_{\ell}^{(C)})_{\ell=0,\ldots,q}$ .

*Proof.* Relations (5.15) combined with Lemma 5.B show that there exists  $(d_q^i)_{i \in \{0,...,j+3q\}} \in \mathbb{R}^{j+3q+1}$  such that

$$S_q^{\varphi}(\sigma) = \sum_{i=0}^{j+3q} d_q^i \Psi_i^{\mathsf{GH}} \left( \breve{\mu}_0^{\frac{1}{4}} \sigma \right) \quad \forall \sigma \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(6.8)

Namely, on the one hand, relations (5.15) indicate that the  $\ell$ -th derivative of  $\Psi_i^{\text{GH}}$  and the function obtained by multiplying  $\Psi_i^{\text{GH}}$  by  $z^{\ell}$  can be expressed as a linear combination of Gauss-Hermite functions up to order  $i + \ell$ . On the other hand, Lemma 5.B indicates that  $\mathbf{A}_q^- \varphi_0$  and  $(\lambda_{\ell} - \mathbf{A}_{\ell}^-)\varphi_{q-\ell}$ , for  $1 \leq \ell \leq q-1$  can respectively be expressed as a linear combination of Gauss-Hermite function up to order j + q + 2 and  $j + 3q - 2\ell + 2$ , these two numbers being bounded by j + 3q.

Equation (6.5a) has a solution in  $L^2(\mathbb{R})$  if, and only if,  $\lambda_q \varphi_0 + S_q^{\varphi}$  is orthogonal to  $\Psi_j^{\text{GH}}(\breve{\mu}_0^{\frac{1}{4}}\cdot)$ ; This implies that  $\lambda_q = -d_q^j$ . Moreover, since the operator  $-\partial_{\sigma}^2 + \breve{\mu}_0 \sigma^2 - (2j+1)\sqrt{\breve{\mu}_0}$  is diagonalizable and invertible on  $\operatorname{span}(\Psi_i^{\text{GH}}(\breve{\mu}_0\cdot) \mid i \geq 0, i \neq j)$ , we get  $b_q^i = \frac{d_q^i}{2(i-j)}$  for  $i \in \{0, \ldots, j+3q\} \setminus \{j\}$  and  $b_q^j = 0$ .

*Remark* 6.2. From the proof of Proposition 6.B we can deduce a finite algorithm for the computation of the terms in the asymptotic expansion of the resonance quasi-pairs because the expression of  $S_q^{\varphi}$  in (6.8) involves a finite sum and because the computation of the solution  $(\lambda_q, \varphi_q)$  is explicit form the coefficients of  $S_q^{\varphi}$ .

The proof that the formal series  $\sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \lambda_q h^{\frac{q}{2}}$  and  $\sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}} \varphi_q h^{\frac{q}{2}}$  obtained from Proposition 6.B give rise to a family of resonance quasi-pairs in the sense of Definition 2.1 can be achieved exactly as in Section 5.2.3 for case (B). Note that in order to use Borel's Theorem and to obtain the required estimates, we have to show that  $\varphi_q \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}) \cap H^2(\mathbb{R}, e^{|\sigma|} d\sigma)$ . This properties can be deduced directly from equation (6.7).

Finally, we can conclude with the proof of Theorem 6.A in a way very similar to the one of Theorem 5.A as detailed in Section 5.2.4.

#### 7. PROXIMITY BETWEEN QUASI-RESONANCES AND TRUE RESONANCES

7.1. Separation of quasi-resonances, quasi-orthogonality of quasi-modes. For the three cases (A), (B), and (C), *cf.* Theorems 4.A, 5.A, and 6.A, we have exhibited families of resonance quasi-pairs in the sense of Definition 2.1. Namely, for each  $j \ge 0$  and  $m \ge 1$ , we have constructed a quasi-pair  $(\underline{k}_{p;j}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m))$  where  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) \in \mathbb{R}_+$  is a quasi-resonance and  $\underline{u}_{p;j}(m) \in \mathbb{H}_p^2(\mathbb{R}^2, \Omega)$  is a compactly supported quasi-mode. Actually, to each quasi-resonance  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m)$ , we can associate two quasi-modes:  $\underline{u}_{p;j}(m)$  and its conjugate. These quasi-modes are quasi-orthogonal with respect to j and m, as stated in the next lemma.

We consider the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^2, n(x)^{p+1} dx)$  and denote its scalar product by

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \overline{f(x)} g(x) n(x)^{p+1} dx$$
 for  $f,g \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2, n(x)^{p+1} dx)$ 

**Lemma 7.A.** For all the three cases (A), (B), and (C), and for all  $i, j \ge 0$  and  $m, m' \ge 1$ , we have  $\langle \underline{u}_{p;i}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m') \rangle = 0$  and

$$\left\langle \underline{u}_{p;i}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m') \right\rangle = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } m = m' \text{ and } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{if } m \neq m', \\ \mathcal{O} \left( m^{-\infty} \right) & \text{if } m = m' \text{ and } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$

For any  $m \ge 1$  and  $i, j \ge 0$ , we have the separation property

$$\underline{k}_{p;i}(m)^2 - \underline{k}_{p;j}(m)^2 = \begin{cases} C_{ij}^{(A)}m^{\frac{4}{3}} + \mathcal{O}(m) & \text{in case (A)}, \\ C_{ij}^{(X)}m + \mathcal{O}(m^{\frac{1}{2}}) & \text{in cases (B),(C)}, \end{cases}$$
(7.1)

with  $C_{ij}^{(\mathbf{x})} \neq 0$  if  $i \neq j$ .

*Proof.* The relation  $\langle \underline{u}_{p;i}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m') \rangle = 1$ , for all  $j \geq 0$  and  $m \geq 1$ , comes from the normalization of the quasi-mode in Definition 2.1. The relations  $\langle \overline{u}_{p;i}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m') \rangle = 0$ , for all  $i, j \geq 0$  and  $m, m' \geq 1$ , and  $\langle \underline{u}_{p;i}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m') \rangle = 0$ , for all  $i, j \geq 0$  and  $m \neq m'$ ,  $m, m' \geq 1$ , are deduced from the identity  $\int_0^{2\pi} e^{iq\theta} d\theta = 0$  for all integer  $q \neq 0$ .

For the last estimate, we consider  $i \neq j, i, j \geq 0$ , and  $m \geq 1$ . By construction, there exists  $R_q \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , for  $q \in \{i, j\}$ , such that  $||R_q||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^2)} = \mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$  and

$$\underline{k}_{p;q}(m)^2 n^{p+1} \underline{u}_{p;q}(m) = -\operatorname{div}\left(n^{p-1} \nabla \underline{u}_{p;q}(m)\right) - R_q.$$
(7.2)

Using the conjugate of this identity for q = i, we deduce:

$$\underline{k}_{p;i}(m)^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \overline{\underline{u}_{p;i}(m)} \, \underline{u}_{p;j}(m) \, n^{p+1} \, \mathrm{d}x = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \operatorname{div}\left(n^{p-1} \nabla \overline{\underline{u}_{p;i}(m)}\right) \underline{u}_{p;j}(m) \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \overline{R_i} \, \underline{u}_{p;j}(m) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Integrating by parts and using again (7.2), we get

$$\left(\underline{k}_{p;i}(m)^2 - \underline{k}_{p;j}(m)^2\right) \left\langle \underline{u}_{p;i}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m) \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^2)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left( \overline{\underline{u}_{p;i}(m)} R_j - \overline{R_i} \, \underline{u}_{p;j}(m) \right) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Taking the modulus and using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we obtain

$$\left|\underline{k}_{p;i}(m)^2 - \underline{k}_{p;j}(m)^2\right| \left|\left< \underline{u}_{p;i}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m) \right>_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^2)}\right| \le \|R_i\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^2)} + \|R_j\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^2)}$$
$$= \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\infty}\right).$$

Then, we use the separation property (7.1) (which is an obvious consequence of the asymptotic formulas for  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m)$  obtained in each case) and finally get the estimate  $\langle \underline{u}_{p;i}(m), \underline{u}_{p;j}(m') \rangle = \mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$ .

7.2. **Spectral-like theorems for resonances.** We have constructed well separated quasipairs for the operator

$$P \coloneqq -n^{-p-1}\operatorname{div}(n^{p-1}\nabla \cdot)$$

with domain  $\mathrm{H}_p^2(\mathbb{R}^2, \Omega)$  on the Hilbert space  $\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^2, n(x)^{p+1} \mathrm{d}x)$ . The operator P is selfadjoint and its spectrum  $\Sigma(P)$  reduces to its essential spectrum, equal to  $[0, +\infty)$ . If we apply the spectral theorem [19, Theorem 5.9] to our quasi-resonances for the operator P, we get that for each quasi-resonance  $\underline{k}_{p;j}(m)$  there exists an interval I of length  $\mathcal{O}(m^{-\infty})$  such that the intersection  $\Sigma(P) \cap I$  is non empty, which is useless, since we know already that  $\Sigma(P) = [0, +\infty)$ . If the operator P has been defined as the Dirichlet realization of  $-n^{-p-1} \operatorname{div}(n^{p-1} \nabla \cdot)$ on a bounded open set containing  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then its spectrum would have been discrete. In such case, the application of the spectral theorem would be more significant. Nevertheless, this procedure of cut-off would not inform us about resonances.

That is why we need to use a spectral-like theorem for resonances. Two statements are available in the literature: one from TANG and ZWORSKI [38], and another from STEFANOV [34]. Those theorems lie in the *black box scattering* framework. We are going to present the main assumptions and results of these papers in a simplified way, convenient for our application.

In dimension 2, the main ingredients are

• A complex Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  with orthogonal decomposition (with positive  $\rho_0$ )

$$\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}_{\varrho_0} \oplus \mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus B(0,\varrho_0))$$

A family of unbounded selfadjoint operators h → P(h) on ℋ with domain independent of h, whose projection onto L<sup>2</sup>(ℝ<sup>2</sup> \ B(0, ρ<sub>0</sub>)) coincides with H<sup>2</sup>(ℝ<sup>2</sup> \ B(0, ρ<sub>0</sub>)).

We introduce the following assumptions

$$\mathbb{1}_{B(0,\varrho_0)}(P(h) - \mathbf{i})^{-1}$$
 compact  $\mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  (H1)

and

$$\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus B(0,\varrho_0)} P(h) u = -h^2 \Delta u \Big|_{\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus B(0,\varrho_0)}.$$
 (H2)

Then, we choose  $\rho \gg \rho_0$  and periodize P(h) outside  $B(0, \rho_0)$ , obtaining an operator  $P^{\sharp}(h)$  on the Hilbert space

$$\mathscr{H}^{\sharp} = \mathscr{H}_{\varrho_0} \oplus \mathrm{L}^2(M \setminus B(0, \varrho_0)) \quad \text{with} \quad M = (\mathbb{R}/\varrho\mathbb{Z})^2$$

Denoting by  $N(P^{\sharp}(h), I)$  the number of eigenvalues in I, we write the third assumption as

$$N(P^{\sharp}(h), [-\lambda, \lambda]) = \mathcal{O}\left((\lambda/h^2)^{n^{\sharp}/2}\right) \quad \lambda \to \infty, \quad \text{for some} \quad n^{\sharp} \ge 2.$$
(H3)

Let us denote by  $\mathscr{Z}(P(h))$  the set of poles of the resolvent  $z \mapsto (P(h)-z)^{-1}$ . In dimension 2, this set is a subset of the Riemann logarithmic surface and its elements satisfy  $\arg z < 0$  with our convention for the definition of resonances.

Now we can state a simplified version of the main result of [38]:

**Theorem 7.B** ([38]). Let P(h) satisfy hypotheses (H1), (H2), and (H3). Assume that there exists for any  $h \in (0, h_0]$  a quasi-pair (E(h), u(h)) with  $E(h) \subset [E_0 - h, E_0 + h]$  for some real  $E_0$ , and with u(h) normalized in  $\mathcal{H}$  and compactly supported independently of h. The quasi-pairs are supposed to satisfy the residue estimate

$$\| \left( P(h) - E(h) \right) u(h) \|_{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty}).$$

Then, for any  $h \in (0, h'_0]$  with a positive  $h'_0$  small enough, there exists a resonance pole  $z(h) \in \mathscr{Z}(P(h))$  such that

$$|E(h) - z(h)| = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty}).$$

The result in [34] is more precise but requires one more hypothesis, according to which the number of resonance poles is not too large: For some positive integers N and N'

Card 
$$\{z \in \mathscr{Z}(P(h)), a_0 \le |z| \le b_0, -\operatorname{Im} z < h^N\} \le C_{a_0,b_0} h^{N'}.$$
 (H4)

Our simplified version of the main result of [34] follows:

**Theorem 7.C** ([34]). Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  be a infinite subset of (0, 1] with accumulation point at 0. Let P(h) satisfy hypotheses (H1), (H2), (H3), and (H4). Assume that, for any  $h \in (0, h_0] \cap \mathfrak{H}$ , there exists d quasi-pair  $(E_{\ell}(h), u_{\ell}(h))$  with  $E_1(h) = \ldots = E_d(h) \in [a_0, b_0]$ , and with  $u_{\ell}(h)$  compactly supported independently of h, and almost orthonormal:  $|\langle u_i(h), u_{\ell}(h) \rangle_{\mathscr{H}} - \delta_{i\ell}| = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty})$ . The quasi-pairs are supposed to satisfy the residue estimate

$$\| (P(h) - E_{\ell}(h)) u_{\ell}(h) \|_{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty}), \quad \ell = 1, \dots, d.$$

Then for any  $h \in (0, h'_0] \cap \mathfrak{H}$  with a positive  $h'_0$  small enough, there exists d resonance poles  $z_{\ell}(h) \in \mathscr{Z}(P(h))$  with repetition according to multiplicity, such that

$$|E_{\ell}(h) - z_{\ell}(h)| = \mathcal{O}(h^{\infty}), \quad \ell = 1, \dots, d.$$

The distinction between the two above theorems is the consideration of multiplicity in Theorem 7.C. The multiplicity of a resonance pole  $z_0$  is understood as the rank of the operator

$$\frac{1}{2\mathrm{i}\pi}\int_{|z-z_0|=\varepsilon} (P(h)-z)^{-1}\,\mathrm{d}z$$

for  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough to isolate the pole  $z_0$  and  $(P(h) - z)^{-1}$  is the meromorphic extension of the resolvent [11, Definition 4.6].

7.3. Application of the spectral-like theorems to disks with radially varying index. We apply the above theorems to our situation. We set

$$P(h) = h^2 P \quad \text{with} \quad P = -n^{-p-1} \operatorname{div}(n^{p-1} \nabla \cdot) \quad \text{on} \quad \mathcal{H} = \mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}^2, n(x)^{p+1} \mathrm{d}x).$$

The subset  $\mathfrak{H}$  is  $\{h = \frac{1}{m}, m \in \mathbb{N}^*\}$ . Hypotheses (H1) and (H2) are easy to check. Concerning (H3), by using the max-min principle for eigenvalues [17, Theorem 11.12] and comparing the eigenvalues of  $P^{\sharp}(h)$  with  $(-h^2\Delta)^{\sharp}$  on a large torus  $M = (\mathbb{R}/\varrho\mathbb{Z})^2$  for  $\varrho \gg R$ , we get that the counting function  $N(P^{\sharp}(h), [-\lambda, \lambda]) = \mathcal{O}(\lambda/h^2)$  for  $\lambda \to \infty$ , which yields  $n^{\sharp} = 2$ .

Concerning (H4), we simply have to use the main theorem in [39] (with  $\phi(t) = t^2$  and  $a = 1 + \varepsilon$ ).

Then to bridge our families of resonance quasi-pairs with the formalism of [34], we set, for any chosen  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$  and any chosen  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$E_{\ell}(h) = h^2 \underline{k}_{p;j}(\frac{1}{h})^2, \quad h \in \mathfrak{H}, \quad \ell = 1, 2$$

with

$$u_1(h) = \underline{u}_{p;j}(\frac{1}{h})$$
 and  $u_2(h) = \underline{u}_{p;j}(\frac{1}{h}), h \in \mathfrak{H}$ 

Then, as h tends to 0, the energy  $E_{\ell}(h)$  converges to  $1/(Rn(R))^2$  in cases (A) and (B), and to  $1/(R_0n(R_0))^2$  in case (C). Applying Theorem 7.C and coming back to resonances by the formula

$$k_m = m\sqrt{z_1(\frac{1}{m})}$$
 and  $k'_m = m\sqrt{z_2(\frac{1}{m})}, m \ge 1$ 

we have proved:

**Theorem 7.D.** For  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$ ,  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ , and m large enough, there exist two resonances  $k_m$  and  $k'_m$  (counted with multiplicity) such that, as  $m \to +\infty$ , we have

$$\max\left(\left|\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) - k_m\right|, \left|\underline{k}_{p;j}(m) - k'_m\right|\right) = \mathcal{O}\left(m^{-\infty}\right).$$

*Remark* 7.1. (*i*) It is plausible that modes associated with the true resonances  $k_m$  and  $k'_m$  have *m* as polar mode index. The proof of this would require to apply a spectral theorem to the family of one dimensional resonance problems (1.4), which seemingly does not enter the general framework of [38] or [34]. Nevertheless, finite element computations performed

with perfectly matched layers displayed numerical modes complying with the structure of quasi-modes (see [25, Chapter 7]).

(*ii*) Throughout the paper we have assumed that  $p \in \{\pm 1\}$ , because of the physical motivation, but without any change, everything is true for  $p \in \mathbb{R}$ .

(*iii*) The assumption that the optical index n of the cavity is real is necessary to deduce Theorem 7.D from the black box scattering theory since the latter requires that the operator  $u \mapsto -n^{-p-1} \operatorname{div}(n^{p-1}\nabla u)$  is self-adjoint. However, the statements Theorem 4.A, 5.A, and 6.A still hold if we allow complex optical indices according to the following relaxed assumptions: For Theorem 4.A, we can weaken the hypotheses on the optical index to  $\operatorname{Re} \sqrt{1-n_0^{-2}} > 0$  and  $\operatorname{Re} \sqrt{\kappa} > 0$ , and for Theorem 5.A, and 6.A, we can replace the condition on effective hessian by  $\operatorname{Re} \sqrt{\mu} > 0$ .

#### APPENDIX A. TECHNICAL LEMMAS

# A.1. Explicit solutions to some differential equations.

**Lemma A.1.** For all  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , let denote by  $\gamma_{\ell}$  the mapping  $z \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto z^{\ell} e^{-z}$  and for  $d \geq 1$  by  $\mathcal{E}_d$  the set  $\{\gamma_{\ell}; \ell = 0, \ldots, d\}$ . The operator  $-\partial_z^2 + 1$  is a bijection from the vector-space span $(\mathcal{E}_d \setminus \{\gamma_0\})$  to the vector-space span $(\mathcal{E}_{d-1})$ .

*Proof.* For all  $\ell \ge 0$ , we readily obtain  $(-\partial_z^2 + 1)\gamma_\ell = \ell(\ell-1)\gamma_{\ell-2} - 2\ell\gamma_{\ell-1}$ . Considering the vector basis  $(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_d)$  and  $(\gamma_0, \ldots, \gamma_{d-1})$  of span $(\mathcal{E}_d \setminus \{\gamma_0\})$  and span $(\mathcal{E}_{d-1})$  respectively, the matrix of  $-\partial_z^2 + 1$  from span $(\mathcal{E}_d \setminus \{\gamma_0\})$  to span $(\mathcal{E}_{d-1})$  is an upper triangular matrix with a determinant equal to  $(-2)^d d! \neq 0$ .

**Lemma A.2.** For all  $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$ , let denote by  $\alpha_{\ell}$  the mapping  $z \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto z^{\ell} A(z)$  and by  $\beta_{\ell}$  the mapping  $z \in \mathbb{R} \mapsto z^{\ell} A'(z)$  where A is the mirror Airy's function. For all  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\mathcal{A}_d$  be the set  $\{\alpha_{\ell}, \beta_{\ell}; \ell = 0, ..., d\}$ . The operator  $-\partial_z^2 - z$  is a bijection from the vector-space span $(\mathcal{A}_d \setminus \{\alpha_0\})$  to the vector-space span $(\mathcal{A}_d \setminus \{\beta_d\})$ .

*Proof.* From the definition of Airy's function, we have A'' = -zA and therefore, for  $\ell \ge 0$ ,

$$(-\partial_z^2 - z)\alpha_{\ell} = -\ell(\ell - 1) \alpha_{\ell-2} - 2\ell \beta_{\ell-1}, (-\partial_z^2 - z)\beta_{\ell} = -\ell(\ell - 1) \beta_{\ell-2} + (2\ell + 1) \alpha_{\ell}$$

Considering the vector basis  $(\beta_0, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \dots, \alpha_d, \beta_d)$  of span $(\mathcal{A}_d \setminus \{\alpha_0\})$  and the vector basis  $(\alpha_0, \beta_0, \alpha_1, \beta_1, \dots, \alpha_d)$  of span $(\mathcal{A}_d \setminus \{\beta_d\})$ , the matrix of  $-\partial_z^2 - z$  considered from span  $(\mathcal{A}_d \setminus \{\alpha_0\})$  to span  $(\mathcal{A}_d \setminus \{\beta_d\})$  is an upper triangular matrix with a determinant equal to  $(-1)^d (2d+1)! \neq 0$ .

A.2. Half harmonic oscillator. We recall that we denote by  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_x)$  and  $H^{\ell}(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_x)$  the weighted Sobolev spaces with measure  $\omega_x(\sigma) d\sigma$  where  $\omega_x : \sigma \mapsto \exp(2^x |\sigma|)$  for x real and that  $\Psi_{2j+1}^{GH}$  refers to the Gauss-Hermite function of order 2j + 1, see [1, 27].

**Lemma A.3.** Let  $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\theta > 0$ , and  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ . For any  $S \in L^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_\beta) \cap \operatorname{span}(\Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}})^{\perp}$  there exists a unique solution to the problem: Find  $w \in \mathrm{H}^2(\mathbb{R}_-) \cap \operatorname{span}(\Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}})^{\perp}$  such that

$$\begin{cases} -w''(x) + (x^2 - 4j - 3)w(x) = S(x) & \forall x \in (-\infty, 0) \\ w(0) = 0 \end{cases}.$$
 (A.1)

*Moreover, this solution belongs to*  $H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_\beta) \cap H^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_{\beta-\theta})$ *.* 

*Proof.* Existence and unicity rely on the fact that the family  $(\Psi_{2\ell+1}^{GH})_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}}$  is a Hilbert basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_-)$  and that the half harmonic oscillator operator is diagonalizable on  $\operatorname{span}(\Psi_{2\ell+1}^{GH} \mid \ell \in \mathbb{N})$ . The solution to problem (A.1) can be written as

$$w = \sum_{\ell=0, \ \ell \neq j}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{4(\ell-j)} \left( S, \ \varsigma_{\ell} \Psi_{2\ell+1}^{\mathsf{GH}} \right)_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{-})} \varsigma_{\ell} \Psi_{2\ell+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}$$
(A.2)

where  $\varsigma_{\ell} = \|\Psi_{2\ell+1}^{\mathsf{GH}}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{-})}^{-1}$  and we clearly have  $w \in \mathrm{H}^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{-}) \cap \mathrm{span}(\Psi_{2j+1}^{\mathsf{GH}})^{\perp}$ .

We set  $J \coloneqq \sqrt{4(j+1) + 2^{2\beta-2}}$  so that, for all  $x \leq -J$ , we have  $V(x) \coloneqq x^2 - 4j - 3 - 2^{2\beta-2} \geq 1$ . Let  $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $0 \leq \phi \leq 1$ ,  $\phi(x) = 0$  for all  $x \leq 0$ , and  $\phi(x) = 1$  for all  $x \geq 1$ , let  $b = (1+2^{\beta}) \max_{\mathbb{R}} |\phi'|$  and let a > J + 2b. We define a cut-off function  $\chi_a \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{\text{comp}}(\mathbb{R}_-)$  by

$$\chi_a(x) = \phi(b^{-1}(x+a)) \cdot \phi(-b^{-1}(x+J)), \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}_-.$$

We also define  $\chi(x) = \phi(-b^{-1}(x+J))$  for  $x \in \mathbb{R}_-$ . Note that, for all a > J + 2b, we have  $|\chi'_a| \leq C$  where  $C = (1+2^{\beta})^{-1}$ . Let also  $\widehat{w} \coloneqq w \omega_{\beta-1}$  and  $\widehat{S} \coloneqq S \omega_{\beta-1}$ . Multiplying both sides of equation (A.1) by  $\chi_a w \omega_\beta$  and integrating over  $\mathbb{R}_-$ , yields

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \left( w' \left( \chi_a \, w \, \omega_\beta \right)' + \chi_a \, \left( x^2 - 4j - 3 \right) \widehat{w}^2 \right) \mathrm{d}x = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_a \, \widehat{S} \, \widehat{w} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Since  $w' \omega_{\beta-1} = \widehat{w}' + 2^{\beta-1} \widehat{w}$  and  $w'(x)(w(x) \omega_{\beta})' = \widehat{w}'(x)^2 - 2^{2\beta-2} \widehat{w}^2(x)$ , we deduce that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_a \,\widehat{w}^{\prime 2} + \chi_a \, V \,\widehat{w}^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_a^{\prime} \widehat{w} \left(\widehat{w}^{\prime} + 2^{\beta - 1} \widehat{w}\right) \,\mathrm{d}x = \int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_a \,\widehat{S} \,\widehat{w} \,\mathrm{d}x. \tag{A.3}$$

For the first term on the left hand side of (A.3), since  $\chi_a V \ge \chi_a$ , we have

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_a \,\widehat{w}^{\prime 2} + \chi_a \, V \,\widehat{w}^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \ge \int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_a \left(\widehat{w}^{\prime 2} + \widehat{w}^2\right) \, \mathrm{d}x. \tag{A.4}$$

Then, for the second term on the left hand side of (A.3), since  $\chi'_a \ge -C$ ,  $1 \ge \chi_a$ , and b is such that  $C(1+2^{\beta}) = 1$ , we have

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_{a}' \widehat{w} \left( \widehat{w}' + 2^{\beta - 1} \widehat{w} \right) \, \mathrm{d}x \geq -C \int_{-\infty}^{0} \widehat{w} \, \widehat{w}' + 2^{\beta - 1} \widehat{w}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\geq -\frac{C}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{0} \widehat{w}'^{2} + (1 + 2^{\beta}) \widehat{w}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$\geq -\frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_{a} \left( \widehat{w}'^{2} + \widehat{w}^{2} \right) \, \mathrm{d}x. \tag{A.5}$$

For the last term on the right hand side of (A.3), since  $\chi_a^2 \leq \chi_a$ , we have

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_a \widehat{S} \,\widehat{w} \,\mathrm{d}x \le \|\widehat{S}\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}_-)} \left( \int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi_a \widehat{w}^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \|\widehat{S}\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}_-)} \,\mathcal{N}_w(a) \tag{A.6}$$

where  $\mathcal{N}_w(a) = \sqrt{\int_{-\infty}^0 \chi_a \left( \hat{w}'^2 + \hat{w}^2 \right)} \, \mathrm{d}x$ . Combining the estimates (A.4), (A.5), and (A.6) yields

$$\mathcal{N}_w(a)^2 \le 2 \|\widehat{S}\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}_-)} \,\mathcal{N}_w(a).$$

The function  $a \in (J + 2, +\infty) \mapsto \mathcal{N}_w(a)$  is not negative and not decreasing, so the function is either always zero or positive for a large enough but in any cases we have

$$\mathcal{N}_w(a) \le 2 \|\widehat{S}\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}_-)}.$$

By letting a tends towards  $+\infty$ , we obtain that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} \chi\left(\widehat{w}'^2 + \widehat{w}^2\right) \, \mathrm{d}x \le 4 \|\widehat{S}\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(\mathbb{R}_-)}^2$$

which implies that  $\widehat{w}$  belongs to  $H_0^1(\mathbb{R}_-)$ . It follows that w belongs to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_\beta)$ . From the relation  $\widehat{w}' \omega_{\beta-1} = -2^{\beta-1} \widehat{w} - \widehat{w}'$ , we deduce that  $w \in \mathrm{H}^1_0(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_\beta)$ . Finally, using the relation  $w'' = (x^2 - 4j - 3)w - S$ , we get

$$\int_{-\infty}^{0} w''^2 \,\omega_{\beta-\theta} \,\mathrm{d}x \le C \int_{-\infty}^{0} \left(w^2 + S^2\right) \,\omega_{\beta} \,\mathrm{d}x$$

where  $C = \max_{x \in \mathbb{R}_{-}} (x^2 - 4j - 3)^2 \omega_{\beta + \tilde{\theta}}^{-1}(x) < +\infty$  with  $\tilde{\theta} = \ln(1 - 2^{-\theta}) / \ln(2)$ . This shows that  $w \in H^2(\mathbb{R}_-, \omega_{\beta-\theta})$ . Note that the constant  $\beta$  is replaced by  $\beta - \theta$  by the need to take into account the coefficient  $x^2 - 4j - 3$ .  $\square$ 

A.3. Borel's Theorem. Our construction of quasi-modes requires to find a smooth function given its Taylor expansion. This can be achieved using a Borel's like theorem on the spaces of Schwartz functions  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ . We denote by  $p_{\alpha,\beta}(f) = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}_{\pm}} |x^{\alpha} \partial_x^{\beta} f(x)|, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}$ , the usual family of semi-norms over  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ .

**Lemma A.4.** Let  $(f_q)_{q \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of functions where  $f_q \in \mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm})$  for all  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ . There exists  $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}))$  such that

$$\partial_t^q f(0, x) = f_q(x), \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}_{\pm}.$$

*Proof.* This proof is inspired by the proof of [20, theorem 1.2.6] where smooth functions with compact support are replaced by Schwartz functions.

Let  $g \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}_{\text{comp}}(\mathbb{R})$  be a smooth cut-off function such that g(t) = 1 for all  $t \in [-1, 1]$ . For each  $q \in \mathbb{N}$  we introduce the function

$$g_q: (t,x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}_{\pm} \longmapsto g\left(\varepsilon_q^{-1} t\right) \frac{t^q}{q!} f_q(x)$$

for some positive number  $\varepsilon_q$  that will be specified later on. For all  $d, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$x^{\alpha}\partial_{t}^{d}\partial_{x}^{\beta}g_{q}(t,x) = \varepsilon_{q}^{q-d} G_{q}^{(d)}(\varepsilon_{q}^{-1}t) x^{\alpha}f_{q}^{(\beta)}(x), \quad \forall (t,x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}_{\pm},$$
(A.7)

where  $G_q(s) = g(s) \frac{s^q}{q!}$ . It follows that  $\left| x^{\alpha} \partial_t^d \partial_x^{\beta} g_q(t,x) \right| \leq C_{q,d}^{\alpha,\beta} \varepsilon_q^{q-d}$  where

$$C_{q,d}^{\alpha,\beta} = \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} \left| G_q^{(d)}(s) \right| \ p_{\alpha,\beta}(f_q) < +\infty$$

By choosing  $\varepsilon_q = \min\left(\varepsilon_{q-1}, \min_{d+\alpha+\beta < q} (2^q C_{q,d}^{\alpha,\beta})^{-\frac{1}{q-d}}\right)$ ,  $q \ge 1$  and  $\varepsilon_0 = 1$  we obtain that  $|x^{\alpha}\partial_t^d\partial_x^\beta g_q(t,x)| \leq 2^{-q}$  for all  $d, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}$  and for all  $q > d + \alpha + \beta$ . Therefore, the sum

$$f = \sum_{q \ge 0} g_q$$

is well defined because the series converge absolutely. Its successive derivatives are equal to the sum of the derivatives of  $g_q$ ; As a consequence,  $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1] \times \mathbb{R}_{\pm})$ . Moreover, from the estimate

$$p_{\alpha,\beta}\left(\partial_t^d f(t,\cdot)\right) \le \sum_{q=0}^{d+\alpha+\beta} C_{q,d}^{\alpha,\beta} \varepsilon_q^{q-d} + 2^{-d-\alpha-\beta}, \qquad \forall t \in [0,1], \ \forall d, \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}$$

we obtain  $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}))$ . From (A.7), we deduce that for all  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ 

$$\partial_t^d f(0,x) = \sum_{q=0}^{+\infty} \varepsilon_q^{q-d} G_q^{(d)}(0) f_q(x), \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}_{\pm}.$$

Since g is constant equal to 1 around t = 0, we have  $G_q^{(d)}(0) = \delta_{q,d}$  where  $\delta_{q,d}$  is the Kronecker symbol. This implies that  $\partial_t^d f(0, x) = f_d(x)$ .

By Taylor's formula with integral remainder we deduce immediately the following result. **Lemma A.5.** Let f be a function belonging to  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}))$ . For all integer  $N \geq 1$ there exists  $R_N \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0,1],\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}_{\pm}))$  such that

$$f(t,x) = \sum_{q=0}^{N-1} \frac{\partial_t^q f(0,x)}{q!} t^q + t^N R_N(t,x), \quad \forall (t,x) \in [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}_{\pm}.$$

# A.4. Additional result.

**Lemma A.6.** Let  $F : (t, \sigma) \mapsto F(t, \sigma)$  a function in  $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}([0, 1], \mathscr{G}(\mathbb{R}_{-}))$ . Then

$$\int_{-\infty}^{-\delta/t} |F(t,\tau)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau = \mathcal{O}(t^{\infty}) \quad as \quad t \to 0.$$

The same result holds with  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$  replaced by  $\mathbb{R}_{+}$  and  $(-\infty, -\delta/t)$  replaced by  $(\delta/t, \infty)$ .

*Proof.* It suffices to notice that for any  $N \ge 1$ , there exists  $C_N$  such that

$$|\tau^N F(t,\tau)| \le C_N$$
, for all  $(t,\tau) \in [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}_-$ 

Hence  $\int_{-\infty}^{-\delta/t} |F(t,\tau)|^2 d\tau \le \left(\frac{t}{\delta}\right)^{2N-1}$ , which proves the lemma.

#### 

#### REFERENCES

- M. ABRAMOWITZ AND I. A. STEGUN, Handbook of mathematical functions with formulas, graphs, and mathematical tables, vol. 55 of National Bureau of Standards Applied Mathematics Series, Dover Publications, 1964.
- [2] A. AMTHONG, WKB approximation for abruptly varying potential wells, European Journal of Physics, 35 (2014), p. 065009.
- [3] V. M. BABIČ AND V. S. BULDYREV, *Short-wavelength diffraction theory*, vol. 4 of Springer Series on Wave Phenomena, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991.
- [4] S. BALAC, M. DAUGE, Y. DUMEIGE, P. FÉRON, AND Z. MOITIER, Mathematical analysis of whispering gallery modes in graded index optical micro-disk resonators, The European Physical Journal D, 74: 221 (2020).
- [5] E. BOGOMOLNY, R. DUBERTRAND, AND C. SCHMIT, *Trace formula for dielectric cavities: General properties*, Phys. Rev. E, 78 (2008), p. 056202.
- [6] M. BORSELLI, T. J. JOHNSON, AND O. PAINTER, Beyond the Rayleigh scattering limit in high-Q silicon microdisks: theory and experiment, Optics Express, 13 (2005), pp. 1515–1530.
- [7] J. CHO, I. KIM, S. RIM, G.-S. YIM, AND C.-M. KIM, Outer resonances and effective potential analogy in two-dimensional dielectric cavities, Physics Letters A, 374 (2010), pp. 1893 – 1899.
- [8] K. DADASHI, H. KURT, K. ÜSTÜN, AND R. ESEN, *Graded index optical microresonators: analytical and numerical analyses*, Journal of the Optical Society of America B, 31 (2014), pp. 2239–2245.
- [9] M. DAUGE AND N. RAYMOND, Plane waveguides with corners in the small angle limit, J. Math. Phys., 53 (2012), pp. 123529, 34.
- [10] R. DUBERTRAND, E. BOGOMOLNY, N. DJELLALI, M. LEBENTAL, AND C. SCHMIT, Circular dielectric cavity and its deformations, Phys. Rev. A, 77 (2008), p. 013804.
- [11] S. DYATLOV AND M. ZWORSKI, *Mathematical theory of scattering resonances*, vol. 200 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics, American Mathematical Society, 2019.
- [12] N. FERNÁNDEZ-GARCÍA AND O. ROSAS-ORTIZ, Extended WKB Method, Resonances and Supersymmetric Radial Barriers, International Journal of Theoretical Physics, 50 (2011), pp. 2057–2066.

- [13] J. GALKOWSKI, *The quantum Sabine law for resonances in transmission problems*, Pure and Applied Analysis, 1 (2019), pp. 27–100.
- [14] C. GOMEZ-REINO, M. PEREZ, AND C. BAO, *Gradient-index optics: fundamentals and applications*, Springer, 2002.
- [15] B. C. HALL, *Quantum Theory for Mathematicians*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2013.
- [16] J. HEEBNER, R. GROVER, AND T. IBRAHIM, Optical microresonators: theory, fabrication, and applications, Optical Sciences 138, Springer-Verlag New York, 2008.
- [17] B. HELFFER, *Spectral theory and its applications*, vol. 139 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013.
- [18] B. HELFFER AND J. SJÖSTRAND, *Résonances en limite semi-classique*, Mém. Soc. Math. France (N.S.), (1986), pp. iv+228.
- [19] P. D. HISLOP AND I. M. SIGAL, Introduction to spectral theory, With applications to Schrödinger operators, vol. 113 of Applied Mathematical Sciences, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1996.
- [20] L. HÖRMANDER, *The analysis of linear partial differential operators*. *I*, vol. 256 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second ed., 1990.
- [21] V. S. ILCHENKO, A. A. SAVCHENKOV, A. B. MATSKO, AND L. MALEKI, Dispersion compensation in whispering-gallery modes, JOSA A, 20 (2003), pp. 157–162.
- [22] C. C. LAM, P. T. LEUNG, AND K. YOUNG, *Explicit asymptotic formulas for the positions, widths, and strengths of resonances in Mie scattering*, Journal of the Optical Society of America B, 9 (1992), pp. 1585–1592.
- [23] W. MCLEAN, *Strongly elliptic systems and boundary integral equations*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000.
- [24] A. MOIOLA AND E. A. SPENCE, Acoustic transmission problems: wavenumber-explicit bounds and resonance-free regions, Mathematical Models and Methods in Applied Sciences, 29 (2019), pp. 317–354.
- [25] Z. MOITIER, Étude mathématique et numérique des résonances dans une micro-cavité optique, theses, Université Rennes 1, 2019.
- [26] Z. NAJAFI, M. VAHEDI, AND A. BEHJAT, The role of refractive index gradient on sensitivity and limit of detection of microdisk sensors, Optics Communications, 374 (2016), pp. 29 – 33.
- [27] F. W. J. OLVER, Asymptotics and special functions, AKP Classics, A K Peters, Ltd., Wellesley, MA, 1997.
- [28] F. W. J. OLVER, D. W. LOZIER, R. F. BOISVERT, AND C. W. CLARK, eds., *NIST handbook of mathematical functions*, Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [29] R. PARINI, cxroots: A Python module to find all the roots of a complex analytic function within a given contour, 2018–.
- [30] G. POPOV AND G. VODEV, *Resonances near the real axis for transparent obstacles*, Communications in Mathematical Physics, 207 (1999), pp. 411–438.
- [31] B. SIMON, Semiclassical analysis of low lying eigenvalues. I. Nondegenerate minima: asymptotic expansions, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré. Section A. Physique Théorique, 38 (1983), pp. 295–308.
- [32] J. SJÖSTRAND AND M. ZWORSKI, Asymptotic distribution of resonances for convex obstacles, Acta Mathematica, 183 (1999), pp. 191–253.
- [33] E. I. SMOTROVA, A. I. NOSICH, T. M. BENSON, AND P. SEWELL, Cold-cavity thresholds of microdisks with uniform and nonuniform gain: quasi-3-D modeling with accurate 2-D analysis, IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics, 11 (2005), pp. 1135–1142.
- [34] P. STEFANOV, *Quasimodes and resonances: sharp lower bounds*, Duke Mathematical Journal, 99 (1999), pp. 75–92.
- [35] —, *Sharp upper bounds on the number of the scattering poles*, Journal of Functional Analysis, 231 (2006), pp. 111–142.
- [36] O. STEINBACH AND G. UNGER, Combined boundary integral equations for acoustic scatteringresonance problems, Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences, 40 (2017), pp. 1516–1530.
- [37] M. C. STRINATI AND C. CONTI, Bose-Einstein condensation of photons with nonlocal nonlinearity in a dye-doped graded-index microcavity, Physical Review A, 90 (2014), p. 043853.
- [38] S.-H. TANG AND M. ZWORSKI, From quasimodes to resonances, Mathematical Research Letters, 5 (1998), pp. 261–272.
- [39] G. VODEV, Sharp bounds on the number of scattering poles in the two-dimensional case, Math. Nachr., 170 (1994), pp. 287–297.

[40] D. ZHU, Y. ZHOU, X. YU, P. SHUM, AND F. LUAN, *Radially graded index whispering gallery mode resonator for penetration enhancement*, Optics Express, 20 (2012), pp. 26285–26291.

UNIV. RENNES, CNRS, IRMAR - UMR 6625, F-35000 RENNES, FRANCE *Email address*: stephane.balac@univ-rennes1.fr

UNIV. RENNES, CNRS, IRMAR - UMR 6625, F-35000 RENNES, FRANCE *Email address*: monique.dauge@univ-rennes1.fr

KARLSRUHE INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, INSTITUTE FOR ANALYSIS, ENGLERSTRASSE 2, D-76131 KARLSRUHE, GERMANY

Email address: zois.moitier@kit.edu